# **UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.**



Master's Thesis

# Order Optimization: A Comparative Analysis of Heuristics and Machine Learning

submitted by

Jaap Seinhorst, B.Sc.

Institution Faculty Degree program Examined by Supervised by Submitted on University of Twente Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences M. Sc. Industrial Engineering and Management Prof. dr. ir. M.R.K. Mes; F.R. Akkerman, M.Sc. A.P. Meints, M.Sc.; R. Oudkerk, M.Sc. 16 March 2023

# **Management summary**

Ahold Delhaize Inbound Logistics (ADIL) acts as an internal supplier of the subsidiaries of Ahold Delhaize. ADIL serves its internal customers by group-buying the items of suppliers primarily based in Europe. Ahold Delhaize wants to reduce the overall carbon emissions. The question arises of how ADIL can reduce the environmental impact of their logistics, and improve its logistics decision-making.

The objective of this research is as follows:

*How can ADIL improve their international freight transportation network considering different kinds of transportation modes within the transportation network?* 

**Context analysis** Most orders from suppliers of ADIL are placed in Europe and also have the most potential for emission reduction. According to the GLEC framework, intermodal shipping routes, which include maritime, railway, and inland waterways transportation, have far less pollution per container per kilometer. Currently, about 50% of ADIL's emissions are caused by road transportation, even though road transportation only accounts for approximately 20% of the total distance travelled. About 40% of the emissions are caused by maritime shipping which accounts for 80% of the total distance travelled.

**Literature** The literature proposes synchromodal transportation as a method to optimize transportation objectives, such as cost and emission. Synchromodal transportation is a form of intermodal transport that uses flexible services. The aim is to manage the flow of goods in a transportation network of logistics service providers and reduce total costs and emissions. Most research considers heuristics in a simulation model, while some recent papers focus on implementing learning strategies, such as Approximate Dynamic Programming.

Most studies evaluate stochasticity in transportation, which includes cancelled- and delayed trips. Often transportation demand and capacity play a more significant role at the strategic/tactical level. The literature proposes a few studies on the combination of inventory management and logistics. A few studies evaluate choosing the transportation mode based on the demand during lead time.

**Solution approach** We developed a simulation model based on ADIL data, to investigate the trade-offs in cost and carbon emissions and evaluate easy points of improvement. Furthermore, the simulation model is used to compare a heuristic-based and learning-based approach. The simulation model includes three modules, of which one is the inventory management system, the second is a transportation network, and the third is the transportation decision system. For each supplier, we generate a fixed set of paths to the warehouse in the Netherlands, which is calculated on the least cost, time, and emission (each path has a different cost, time, and emission). Each item has a

stochastic demand. When the inventory falls below the reorder point, the inventory management module triggers an order of full container loads of the items at the supplier. Each container is transported on one path of the fixed set of paths from the supplier to the warehouse in the Netherlands. The transportation decision module, called the order optimizer, determines the best path to choose, based on a weighted objective function that minimizes expected costs and emissions. The expected costs are determined by evaluating different demand observations and transportation delays. In comparison to this heuristic, we develop and test a learning heuristic for the transportation decision module. This method employs a neural network to determine the container path.

**Results and conclusions** The performance of the transportation decision module is compared with a simple heuristic that does not include expected future lost sales and inventory costs, but only the direct transportation costs (myopic policy). We evaluate 12 experiments, of which one is road-only transportation. The other 11 experiments each have a 100%, 90%, 80%, ..., 10%, and 1% cost focus, respectively. The simple heuristic performed close to the performance of the order optimizer, showing slightly worse performance with a 100% cost focus, and a high emission focus. Figure 1 shows the Pareto frontier solutions of the experiments for the simple heuristic and optimization module: the order optimizer. In the used dataset, an approximate emission reduction of 45% is possible with a cost increase of 12%, compared to the 100% cost focus experiment. The Road Only experiment which only uses road transportation, is significantly outperformed in carbon emission, while simultaneously leading to a slight cost reduction, by the Pareto frontier.



Figure 1.: Pareto frontier solutions for different cost factors

The primary modality of intermodal transport is rail transportation. In a full emission focus experiment, nearly all emissions (close to 90%) are caused by intermodal transportation routes that include rail transportation. Still, about 65% of the emissions are caused by road transportation, but most of the route's emissions are released from the required road sections within the intermodal route.

Within the scope of this research, the learning heuristic tends to show the same performance as simple- or complex heuristics. While the learning heuristic tends to give more consistent results than a simple heuristic, the benefits are not significant. **Recommendations and future research** We propose the following recommendations to ADIL:

- Evaluate what cost/emission trade-off fits the best to ADIL's objectives. A reduction in emissions goes along with a small increase in costs.
- Due to the standardized procedure of transportation for each supplier of ADIL, implementing a single intermodal transportation path for a supplier is possible. If ADIL desires to include flexible services, such as synchromodal transportation, ADIL should review how this can be implemented into its current systems.
- Within the constraints of this research, a complex heuristic or learning heuristic does not significantly improve the solution for path selection, compared to a simple heuristic. For that reason, if ADIL desires to implement flexible services, we recommend starting with a subset of the transportation routes and simple heuristics before increasing the scope and investigating more complex solutions.

The following key future research topics result from this research:

- In this research, demand is simulated according to a single distribution based on actual demand figures. The actual demand can also be simulated with multiple distributions to accurately cope with promotions, i.e., high peaks in demand. Including two types of demand seasons, such as a standard- and high-demand season may provide relevant results in path selection.
- The problem instance of ADIL has a relatively high lost sales cost, compared to the low holding costs. This results in the optimization model usually preferring more inventory for a reduced risk of lost sales. Researching the problem to optimize the ordering process on lost sales costs and complying with warehouse capacity might be more relevant than the trade-off between holding- and lost sales costs.

# Preface

This thesis is the final product of my graduation assignment for my master's degree Industial Engineering and Management at the University of Twente. I held my graduation assignment about order optimization and transport mode selection with great pleasure at Ahold Delhaize located in Zaandam.

I would like to thank my supervisors Pieter and Rob who gave me the possibility to perform research at such a remarkable company like Ahold Delhaize, and for their guidance during my graduation phase! Further, I would like to thank Martijn and Fabian from the University of Twente for their guidance on my graduation topic to bring this thesis to a successful end! A special thanks to my colleagues, housemates, and family for their contribution to this thesis and for helping me make the right decisions along the way. Also, I would like to thank everybody who directly or indirectly contributed to this research.

Jaap Seinhorst Enschede, March 2023

# List of figures

1.	Pareto frontier solutions for different cost factors	ii
1.1.	Structure of the research questions	4
2.1. 2.2.	Purchasing process (Weele, 2010)	5
	y] unique items to ADIL	6
2.3. 2.4. 2.5.	Expenditure of ADIL per continent (January 2022)	8 9
	over all containers in 2021 by transportation mode.	9
4.1.	Structure of an order $o \in \mathcal{O}$	18
5.1.	Flowchart of the entire solution approach	28
5.2.	Comparison of two nearly-identical paths	30
5.3.	Path preparation scheduling.	34
5.4.	VFA neural network example with the post-decision state as the input.	36
6.1.	TEN-T Core Network Corridors. Each colour represents one of the nine corridors. While all corridors include road transportation, most corridors	
6.2.	also include rail transportation	40
6.3.	The set of intermodal arcs (maritime, rail, and inland waterways) in the	41
6.4	Origins of the European shipmonts in 2021 of ADU	42
6.5.	Performance measurement of the model.	43
6.6.	Training process of Supplier 1 with 100% cost focus.	48
7.1.	Pareto frontier of the experiments with 100% delay factor is the simple	
/	heuristic and order optimizer.	50
7.2.	Pareto frontier 36 experiments, based on a cost-emission scale	51
<b>7</b> ∙3∙	Cost distribution of the experiments in the base case.	52
7.4.	Number of containers transported split per transport method for each experiment of the base case	<b>E</b> 1
7.5.	Total emission per experiment split per main transport method	54 54
7.6.	Total emission per experiment split per single transport mode.	55
7·7·	Total emissions per country per experiment	56
7.8.	Emission reduction per country, compared to the Road Only experiment.	56

## List of figures

7.9.	Comparison of different strategies in terms of costs and emissions of the	
	Supplier 1 instance.	57
7.10.	Comparison of different strategies in terms of costs and emissions of the	
	Supplier 2 instance	58
7.11.	Pareto of Different delay distributions	59
B.1.	Count of the set of paths size.	78
B.2.	Count of different paths for a specific supplier during several experiments.	79
C.1.	Number of orders placed in a specific week, where the demand starts in	
	week 13	80
C.2.	Total cost, also split per cost category, per week during a simulation run.	81

# List of tables

2.1.	Important item characteristics	7
3.1.	Types of modality	11
3.2.	Literature study subjects	12
4.1.	List of all sets in the problem formulation	20
4.2.	List of all variables in the problem formulation	20
4.3.	List of all parameters in the problem	21
5.1.	Solution modules	27
6.1.	Model sets	38
6.2.	Model parameter settings	39
6.3.	Average delay factor of transportation modes	45
6.4.	Set of experimental parameters	47
6.5.	Set of experiments to evaluate.	47
6.6.	Supplier instances for the learning strategy.	48
7.1.	Experiment values comparison of costs and emissions. The change per- centage is calculated by comparing it with the 100% cost focus experiment	52
7.2.	Sensitivity analysis parameters.	55 58
A.1.	Set of all nodes.	72
A.2.	Set of all arcs.	77
C.1.	KPI evaluation for the number of replications.	81

## Acronyms

- **ABM** agent-based modeling.
- **ACO** ant colony optimization.

**ADIL** Ahold Delhaize Inbound Logistics.

**ADP** approximate dynamic programming.

**AI** artificial intelligence.

**ALNS** adaptive large neighborhood search.

**CIHW** confidence interval half-width.

**ERP** enterpise resource planning.

FCL full container load.

- **FEU** forty-foot equivalent unit.
- **GIS** geographic information system.
- **LCL** less than container load.
- **LSP** logistics service provider.

**MDP** markov decision process.

**MILP** mixed integer linear programming.

**MIP** mixed integer programming.

MRP material requirement planning.

**NFP** network flow planning.

- **OPA** ordinal priority approach.
- **SKU** stock keeping unit.
- **SND** service network design.

**TEU** twenty-foot equivalent unit.

**VFA** value function approximation.

## Glossary

- **Banner** Synonym for internal customers of Ahold Delhaize, such as Albert Heijn and Etos.
- **Collo** The box in which consumer units are stored. A pallet consists of multiple collo's.
- **Directed graph** A graph consisting of nodes and arcs (connecting nodes), where the flow of the arcs goes in one direction.
- **Door-to-door connections** A sequence of connections, i.e., transportation services to transport goods from a supplier to a warehouse.
- **Flexible services** Flexible services, primarily transportation in this report, can be requested on demand at any moment in time. Non-flexible services have fixed or predefined schedules.
- **GLEC framework** A framework that defined an emission per transportation mode per Twenty-foot equivalent per kilometer (Smart Freight Centre, 2022).
- **Heuristic** A method to make a decision in an optimization problem, which is often an approximate but not optimal solution.
- **Intermodal transportation** Moving goods by more than one mode of transport, with a separate contract for each individual leg of the journey (Containerships, 2020).
- **Inventory position** The physical inventory quantity together with all in-transit quantity of an item.
- **Lead time** The duration of an activity, e.g., a transportation path.
- **Lost sales** The quantity of demand not met, due to a shortage of physical inventory.
- **Modal shift** Changing a standardized transportation policy (partially) to another transportation mode.
- **Multimodal transportation** Moving goods by more than one mode of transport, under one contract (Containerships, 2020).
- **Myopic policy** A policy that chooses the decision that improves the objective function the most.

#### Glossary

**Order multiple** A fixed item quantity, which is often, e.g., a full box, pallet, or truck-load.

- Pareto front An efficient frontier of optimal solutions with two or more objectives.
- **Policy (MDP)** In a Markov Decision Process, a policy is the set of decisions to take in all states of the system.
- **Post decision state (MDP)** The state the Markov Decision Process ends up in after taking a decision in the current state.
- **Reinforcement learning** A form of machine learning that learns optimal decisionmaking in a sequential decision-making simulation.
- **Reorder point** A specific stock level, where if the inventory position drops below this level, a new order is generated.
- **State (MDP)** In a Markov Decision Process, a state is defined as the characteristics of a system of a certain moment in time.
- **Stochasticity** A term for uncertainty, which is often modelled with a statistical probability distribution.
- **Synchromodal transportation** A form of intermodal transport with so-called mode-free booking flexibility (Rivera & Mes, 2022).
- **Transportation mode** The method to ship a container. The most common methods are via road, air, rail, maritime, and inland waterways.
- **Unimodal transportation** Delivering goods by a single mode of transport, typically by road (Eurosender, 2020).
- **Value function approximation (MDP)** A function to approximate the value we assign to a state.

# Contents

Ма	anage	ement summary	i
Pr	eface		iv
Li	st of f	igures	v
Li	st of t	ables	vii
Ac	rony	ms	viii
GI	ossai	ry	x
1.	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1.	Context description	1
		1.1.1. Ahold Delhaize	1
		1.1.2. Ahold Delhaize Inbound Logistics	1
	1.2.	Motivation	2
	1.3.	Problem description	2
	9	1.3.1. Problem context	3
		1.3.2. Core problem	3
	1.4.	Objective	3
	1.5.	Research questions	3
2.	Con	text analysis	5
	2.1.	Ordering process of ADIL	5
	2.2.	Purchase order creation	6
	2.3.	Product portfolio	7
	2.4.	Supplier portfolio	7
	2.5.	Transportation modes	8
	2.6.	Emission	9
	2.7.	Conclusion	10
3.	Liter	ature review	11
	3.1.	Synchromodal transport and optimization	12
	3.2.	Inventory management with transportation	14
	3.3.	Uncertainty/stochasticity in transportation	14
	3.4.	Learning strategies in transportation models	15
	3.5.	Summary of literature	16
4.	Prob	blem formulation	17
	4.1.	Problem introduction	17

#### Contents

	4.2.	Decision space	21					
	4.3.	MDP formulation	22					
	4.4.	Assumptions	24					
	4.5.	j. Conclusion						
5.	Solu	ution design	26					
	5.1.	Solution approach	26					
	5.2.	Path generation (module 1)	28					
	J. <u>_</u> .	5.2.1 Path generation	-* 28					
		5.2.1. Full generate a set of k-ontimal naths	20					
	<b>- 2</b>	Inventory management system (module 2)	29					
	5.3.	Houristia Item quantity ordering	31					
		5.3.1. Heuristic: Item quantity ordering	31					
		5.3.2. Heuristic: Pallet division over containers	32					
	5.4.	Optimizing container scheduling (module 3)	33					
		5.4.1. Path scheduling preparation	33					
		5.4.2. Pairing containers with paths	34					
	5.5.	Container scheduling: Learning heuristic	35					
	5.6.	Conclusion	36					
6.	Fxp	erimental design	38					
0.	6 1	Ceneral settings	28					
	6.2	Transportation network (module 1)	30 20					
	0.2.	(a) Pood transport	39					
			40					
		6.2.2. Intermodal transport	40					
		6.2.3. Warehouses and suppliers	42					
	6.3.	Inventory management system (module 2)	43					
	6.4.	Order optimizer (module 3)	44					
	6.5.	Container scheduling: Learning heuristic	45					
	6.6.	Model performance evaluation	46					
	6.7.	Experiment setup	46					
		6.7.1. Order optimizer	46					
		6.7.2. Learning heuristic	47					
	6.8.	Conclusion	48					
7	Res	ulte	50					
••	7 1	Model validation	50					
	7.1.	Parata frantiar	50					
	7.2.		51					
	7.3.	Country analysis	55					
	7.4.	Order optimizer module: Learning neuristic	57					
	7.5.	Sensitivity analysis	58					
	7.6.	Conclusion	58					
8.	Con	clusions and recommendations	61					
	8.1.	Conclusions	61					
		8.1.1. Main conclusions	62					
		8.1.2. Contribution to literature and practice	63					
	8.2.	Recommendations	64					
	8.3.	Research limitations	64					

#### Contents

8.4.	Future research	65
Bibliog	raphy	67
A. List	of all nodes and arcs	70
B. K-optimal path specification		78
C. War	m-up period and replications analysis	80

This report elaborates on the research at Ahold Delhaize about the optimization of sustainability in freight transportation. This chapter describes the problem identification phase of the research.

First, the context of the research is described in Section 1.1. Section 1.2 elaborates on the motivation of the research. Section 1.3 gives a description of the problem. Section 1.4 shows the objective of the research. Finally, Section 1.5 splits the research into several research questions.

### 1.1. Context description

The research was conducted at Ahold Delhaize located in Zaandam in the Netherlands. Section 1.1.1 gives a brief summary of the company Ahold Delhaize. Then section 1.1.2 introduces the department within Ahold Delhaize where the research has been conducted.

### 1.1.1. Ahold Delhaize

Ahold Delhaize is a large food retail group with its headquarters located in Zaandam, the Netherlands. With famous brands such as Albert Heijn in the Netherlands, and Delhaize in Belgium, and Food Lion in the USA, Ahold Delhaize serves multiple markets in several countries (Ahold Delhaize, 2022a). With a net sales of  $\notin$ 75.6 billion in 2021 ( $\notin$ 30.1*B* in Europe and  $\notin$ 45.5*B* in the USA), Ahold Delhaize is continuously trying to grow in its local markets (Ahold Delhaize, 2022b).

Ahold Delhaize was formed by the merger between Ahold and the Delhaize Group in 2016 (Ahold Delhaize, 2022a). With over 150 years of experience, Ahold Delhaize has grown from a small wholesale grocery business to a large multinational group of multiple brands. The Ahold Delhaize group combined with its local brands have over 400,000 people employed in nearly 7,500 stores (Ahold Delhaize, 2022a).

### 1.1.2. Ahold Delhaize Inbound Logistics

Ahold Delhaize Inbound Logistics (ADIL) is a department within the Ahold Delhaize group, also located in Zaandam. ADIL operates as a wholesaler for the internal customers (also called banners) of Ahold Delhaize and is specialized in the international first mile (ADIL, 2021). Where banners such as Albert Heijn arrange contracts with suppliers, ADIL orders, ships, and stores the products in four own warehouses in the Netherlands. Banners can then request products from ADIL's warehouses to their warehouses.

ADIL's suppliers are located around the globe, which causes geographically large transportation networks. Lead times therefore may vary between a single week and multiple months. ADIL has to manage these factors, so its banners can request products with short lead times. Managing these factors is critical to the core business of ADIL.

ADIL makes use of two operational teams. The first team is responsible for demand management, which includes forecasting the demand for products for a maximum of 12 months. The second team is responsible for supply management and orders the products contingent on the forecast.

## 1.2. Motivation

Climate change is the driving force for people and businesses to become aware of the environmental impact of operations. Ahold Delhaize is also trying to reduce its impact on the environment by, e.g., reducing carbon emissions from its operations. By 2050, Ahold Delhaize wants to achieve a net-zero emission. This means that ADIL also has to think about reducing its environmental impact.

Besides environmental factors, ADIL follows recent trends and developments in artificial intelligence (AI). The department is now exploring opportunities for using AI techniques within its business processes. In the past few years, students have already performed some research in the field of artificial intelligence within Ahold Delhaize, but in different types of operations (e.g., warehousing). Now, ADIL wants to explore the potential of AI to optimize its ordering- and logistics processes, and reduce its carbon emissions while maintaining its product availability.

## 1.3. Problem description

As mentioned in the previous section, ADIL needs to reduce carbon emissions within their operations to achieve the net-zero goal of Ahold Delhaize in 2050. Since ADIL's core business is managing the logistics of goods, ADIL's way to reduce carbon emissions is to focus on making transportation more sustainable.

The majority of the suppliers of ADIL are located in Europe. The other suppliers are spread around the world in countries such as China, South Africa, and Chile. Due to the long geographical distance in the supply chains, products can have long- and varying lead times. Some products have specific characteristics and requirements such as a shelf life, which can make the planning of orders quite complex. Currently, the planner is expected to take into account all these factors, which is difficult to optimize in practice.

ADIL desires to optimize their ordering process which can assist the planners to make better decisions in their ordering process. In this problem, multiple objectives are relevant as mentioned in section 1.2. Order optimization includes the control of moving products in the transportation network and the moment of ordering.

### 1.3.1. Problem context

The ordering process of the planners is based on a standardized way of shipping for every supplier, which simplifies the ordering process. For example, the default method of shipping of a supplier in Germany might be road transportation, while a supplier in China uses maritime shipping. However, this can also cause inefficiencies due to not considering other, more efficient and sustainable options. Currently, ADIL does not know to what extent they can improve this logistical process by considering other methods of shipping.

This problem considers multiple constraints and variables. Item characteristics and the supplier location may influence what shipping options are allowed and/or available. Also, warehouses have a finite capacity that limits the amount of storage space. Besides, long-and varying lead times should be considered within the ordering process. Unexpected long lead times may cause inventory shortages.

### 1.3.2. Core problem

The core problem ADIL faces in the problem context is the unawareness of potential efficiency- and sustainability improvements of other transportation options. ADIL currently uses trucks as the major mode of transportation within Europe and wants to explore other methods.

## 1.4. Objective

Concluding from the problem description, the following research objective has been defined.

*How can ADIL improve their international freight transportation network considering different kinds of transportation modes within the transportation network?* 

## 1.5. Research questions

For executing the research, five sub-questions have been defined related to the problem statement.

### RQ1 What does the current ordering process look like at ADIL?

First, an understanding of the current ordering process has to be defined. This will be investigated by interviewing the planners and consulting the ERP system on how decisions are made in the ordering process, related to creating- and shipping an order.

# **RQ2** What optimization models does the literature propose about multi-objective transportation networks, considering multiple modes of transportation?

The literature will be assessed about what modelling techniques are available to optimize the transportation networks based on multiple objectives, e.g., cost and emission.

#### RQ3 In what way can the problem be formulated in the case of ADIL?

The model needs to be formulated in terms of sets, parameters, decisions, constraints, and an objective. This problem formulation should include all relevant elements for the situation of ADIL. Also, the transportation network of Europe should be modelled.

# RQ4 How should the solution methods, applied to the problem formulation, be designed?

The problem formulation should be solved with solution approaches such as heuristics and algorithms. The approach to solving the problem formulation is described.

#### RQ5 How do the solutions perform, compared with a simple heuristic?

The performance of the developed heuristic solution(s) can be compared with a simple heuristic, using a myopic policy, to validate the performance of the model.

Figure 1.1 shows the structure between the research questions. First, in Chapter 2, the current ordering process is elaborated with relevant key figures such as emissions pollution. Then, Chapter 3 shows what literature has been researched about order optimization, related to transport modelling. Based on the methodology of formulation transportation networks in literature, Chapter 4 formulates the problem instance in terms of sets, parameters, and decisive moments. The solution approach to optimize the problem formulation is described in Chapter 5. Chapter 6 elaborates on the experimental settings in preparation for the results. Finally, Chapter 7 performs the experiments on the problem formulation, using the solution approach.



Figure 1.1.: Structure of the research questions.

In this chapter, context analysis is performed to answer research question 1. First, Section 2.1 has worked out the ordering process of ADIL in more detail. Section 2.2 elaborates further on the method a purchase order is created. Section 2.3 and Section 2.4 show a summary of the product portfolio and the supplier portfolio, respectively. Section 2.5 shows the division of transportation modes used by ADIL, whereas Section 2.6 elaborates on the emissions polluted by transportation. Section 2.7 concludes this chapter with the main conclusions of the context analysis.

### 2.1. Ordering process of ADIL

ADIL is specialised in international first mile logistics as mentioned in Section 1.1.2. Looking at the well-known purchasing process of Weele (2010) in Figure 2.1, ADIL only takes care of the supplying part of the purchasing process.



Figure 2.1.: Purchasing process (Weele, 2010).

The ordering process of ADIL consists of several activities. The first part is demand planning, which is done by the demand team. This team of planners is responsible for the forecast of all product demand for the next 52 weeks. This demand has to suffice the standard demand of its internal customer, but also promotions, which cause large demand shocks. This team makes use of a forecasting tool that predicts demand based on historical data.

The second part is supply planning, which is done by the supply team. The supply of products is done according to the demand forecast. This includes purchasing the orders, arranging transportation with third-party suppliers, and monitoring the orders until they are delivered at one of ADIL's warehouses. From this point onwards, banners can order these products from ADIL with their own transportation equipment. Every day, a

list of inbound- and outbound products is sent to each warehouse about what products will arrive at the warehouse, and what products will need to be prepared for shipment to the banner.

### 2.2. Purchase order creation

Where the demand team creates the demand forecast, the supply team orders based on the current inventory and the demand forecast. The enterpise resource planning (ERP) system of ADIL assists the planner in purchasing the products at the right time. The system calculates the inventory after lead time based on the current inventory, incoming orders, and demand forecast. If the inventory after the lead time drops below zero, it will notify the planner to make a purchase order.

Every supplier has one or more products they deliver to ADIL. Figure 2.2 shows the number of suppliers that deliver how many unique items. When a planner is ordering a product, the planner will fill one twenty-foot equivalent unit (TEU) container or a forty-foot equivalent unit (FEU) container or equivalent. Based on the inventory of the items of a single supplier, the system proposes the number of pallets to order for each item. This is based on how many weeks forward to order. The planner then is asked to adjust the number of pallets ordered per item to fully pack one or more full container loads.



Figure 2.2.: The column represents the number of suppliers that deliver between [x, y] unique items to ADIL.

## 2.3. Product portfolio

ADIL has a product portfolio of a few thousand products. These products range from winery to diapers and shaving needs. The items can be categorised into roughly three categories, which are winery products, food products, and non-food products. Food products can have for example different kinds of characteristics than other categories. For example, certain olives need to be stored in a cooled area below 14 degrees. In Table 2.1 most relevant item characteristics are discussed.

Characteristic	Explanation
Cartons on pallets	The number of cartons on a full single pallet.
Pallet type	The type of pallet the products are delivered on.
Item dimensions	The length, width, and height of a single product. Can also be expressed as the number of items per layer of a pallet.
Weight	The weight of a collo <sup>1</sup> .
Temperature zone	The temperature zone in which the item should be stored in inventory, and during transport.
Shelf-life (PT)	The number of days after production the product can be consumed.

Table 2.1.: Important item characteristics

## 2.4. Supplier portfolio

ADIL has suppliers located all around the globe, which makes their supply chains geographically long. Figure 2.3 shows the expenditure divided per continent of January 2022. The major expenses are made in Europe (about 85%). South America, Asia, and Africa also have some local suppliers that make up about 15% of the total expenses. This concludes that most of ADIL's turnover at suppliers is located in the EU.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A box in which consumer units are stored.



Figure 2.3.: Expenditure of ADIL per continent (January 2022).

ADIL does business with suppliers all across Europe. Countries such as the United Kingdom, Germany, and Italy are the most relevant when it comes to turnover. The majority of the spending is done with western countries, while also eastern countries include some suppliers.

## 2.5. Transportation modes

The transportation industry related to transporting products has 5 common transportation modes: rail, maritime (sea), road, inland waterways, and air (Eurostat, 2019). Some parties also make a distinction between short sea- and deep sea shipping (Eurostat, 2022). ADIL currently makes use of three modes: rail, maritime (short sea & deep sea), and road.

For overseas suppliers that are located outside Europe, deep-sea shipping is the standard transportation mode. Within Europe, the transportation mode can differ from road, rail, and short sea. Currently, only for a limited number of suppliers the rail and short sea transportation modes are used.

ADIL has done about 16,000 shipments in 2021. A distinction between TEUs and FEUs is not possible in the data. Figure 2.4 shows the number of containers shipped from suppliers to the warehouses of ADIL. As the data shows, the majority is shipped by truck. About 25% is shipped by maritime, and about 10% by rail.



Figure 2.4.: Number of containers ordered in 2021 by transportation mode.

### 2.6. Emission

ADIL is trying to identify sustainability improvements with this research. Different transportation modes also have different emission factors. To compare the different transportation modes, the carbon emissions are used from the GLEC framework (Smart Freight Centre, 2022). The GLEC framework has defined intercontinental average carbon emissions per km per TEU for every transportation mode. Figure 2.5 shows the total distance travelled by all containers, and its corresponding total emissions polluted by the transportation modes. The distance is calculated by taking the great-circle distance in kilometers between the country of origin and destination for all transportation modes. The total emissions are calculated by multiplying the distance with the relevant average emission factor for that route. These values are only for routes defined by a transportation mode.



Figure 2.5.: Estimation of total distance travelled and emissions polluted summed over all containers in 2021 by transportation mode.

As Figure 2.5 shows, the majority of the distance travelled is caused by maritime transportation, while the emissions are roughly the same as with the road transportation mode. This is due to the road transportation mode having a way larger emission factor than maritime transportation.

## 2.7. Conclusion

The purchasing process of ADIL is standardized in such a way that the method of transportation is already determined for every supplier. This simplifies the purchasing process but reduces flexibility. The ERP system also assists the planner in determining the quantity of a product to order. The planner can determine at the end what quantity to purchase of what item.

Most of ADIL's spend is done in Europe, where most suppliers are located. The goods from suppliers outside of Europe are transported with maritime shipping. Most shipping inside Europe is still done via road transportation, which causes the most emissions. Currently, only a small amount of containers are transported with rail transportation and no container yet have been transported with inland waterways.

This chapter elaborates on the literature study to answer research question 2. The literature will be reviewed on related work on synchromodal transport and optimization modelling. Table 3.2 shows the division of the subjects. All literature is found in the scientific database Scopus.

Sustainability becomes an increasingly important topic in transportation. Research has been done into, e.g., search for alternative fuels (Kokkinos et al., 2022), and evaluation of electric transportation (Barros et al., 2020). Most studies raise the subject of intermodalor multimodal transport (Li & Zhang, 2021; Marzano et al., 2022; Tamannaei, Zarei, & Aminzadegan, 2021; Tamannaei, Zarei, & Rasti-Barzoki, 2021; Yin et al., 2021). Table 3.1 gives the definition of four common methods of shipping.

Term	Definition
Unimodal	Delivering goods by a single mode of transport, mainly by road (Eurosender, 2020).
Multimodal	Moving goods by more than one mode of transport, under one contract (Containerships, 2020).
Intermodal	Moving goods by more than one mode of transport, with a sep- arate contract for each individual leg of the journey (Container- ships, 2020).
Synchromodal	A form of intermodal transport with so-called mode-free booking flexibility (Rivera & Mes, 2022).

Table 3.1.: Types of modality

Countries are promoting more sustainable modes of transportation such as railways, sea shipping, and inland waterways (Marzano et al., 2022). Multimodal- and intermodal transport both refer to using a combination of these transportation modes including road transportation. The main difference between these two terms is that multimodal transport is covered by one contract and intermodal transport is covered by multiple contracts within the journey. Transportation by rail, sea, and inland waterways are considered more sustainable than transportation by road (Smart Freight Centre, 2022).

Since ADIL wants to improve their sustainability to contribute to the net-zero scenario (see Section 1.2) related to its transportation, a literature study is performed about intermodal transport and synchromodal transport. Synchromodal transport is an implementation of intermodal transport where for each order the best method of transportation is chosen. The best method of transportation can be defined as, e.g., the most cost-advantageous transportation method for that moment in time.

The study will be divided into four parts. Section 3.1 reviews the literature on synchromodal transport systems and the optimization of synchromodal transport. Section 3.2 summarizes the work done on inventory management in combination with transportation. Section 3.3 shows the modelling of uncertainty in transportation. Section 3.4 searches for learning strategies/learning algorithms to optimize synchromodal transport. Finally, section 3.5 summarizes the most important relevant literature for the optimization model.

Subject	Explanation
Synchromodal transport and optimiza- tion	Synchromodal transport is not a widely re- searched subject yet, so the relevant available papers have to be examined.
<i>Inventory management with (synchro- modal) transport</i>	Explore what literature provides on the combi- nation of inventory with transportation choices.
Uncertainty/stochasticity in transportation	Review what uncertainty applies to synchro- modal transport and how to overcome this.
<i>Learning strategies in transportation models</i>	Review what optimization techniques related to AI have been applied.

Table 3.2.: Literature study subjects

## 3.1. Synchromodal transport and optimization

Freight transportation creates remarkable negative effects related to emissions, noise, and congestion (Pamucar et al., 2022). The transportation flow, therefore, requires a model shift, i.e., from road- to rail transportation, to a more efficient system resulting in, e.g., fewer costs and emissions (Pamucar et al., 2022; Zhang, Guo, et al., 2022). Just like multimodal- and synchromodal transport, synchromodal transport makes use of multiple transportation modes for individual orders to maximize the benefits related to emissions, costs, and time (Batarlienė & Šakalys, 2021; Larsen et al., 2021; Zhang, Atasoy, et al., 2022).

synchromodal transport utilizes a transportation network, consisting of different transportation modes between nodes. Xiong and Wang (2014) study such a transportation network with time windows. Based on the speed and cost factor of a transportation mode, the total duration and cost are calculated. Xiong and Wang (2014) used a genetic algorithm in combination with the *k*-shortest path algorithm to find Pareto-optimal solutions on cost and duration. Sawadogo et al. (2012) also optimizes an intermodal transport network to find Pareto-optimal solution on time and costs, but uses multiobjective shortest path algorithm, together with ant colony optimization (ACO). Abdulkadir (2018) uses a more simple approach by using Dijkstra's algorithm for the shortest path for every objective in the model. The paper uses in total four objectives: distance, time, carbon dioxide emission, and cost.

Zhang, Guo, et al. (2022) addresses the case of using flexible services in synchromodal transport, compared to the standard case with only fixed routes. This corresponds

with what Pfoser et al. (2022) calls 'mode-free' booking. Zhang, Guo, et al. (2022) has defined the problem as a mixed integer linear programming (MILP). Due to the computational complexity, they also defined an adaptive large neighborhood search (ALNS) as a heuristic to solve the problem. The heuristic is able to achieve an average of 14% cost savings compared to the case with fixed routes in a reasonable time.

Zhang et al. (2021) has developed a route selection model which considers an intermodal transport network in China, which optimizes on five types of cost. These types are (1) transportation cost, (2) transit cost, (3) carbon emission cost, (4) time penalty cost, and (5) damage compensation cost. Three weights have been applied to the cost of these types (weight 1 to the sum of 1-3 and weight 2, 3 to type 4, 5, respectively). A weight sensitivity analysis has been performed to the cost objective. An ant colony optimization algorithm is used as a tool for route selection within the model. The paper uses actual distances, time delay coefficients, and accident damage coefficients specified for each node pair.

Rivera and Mes (2016) consider the problem where a network operator may choose the transportation modes freely based on a synchromodal network with a multi-period horizon. Every day a choice can be made whether to (1) ship a freight to its final destination, (2) ship a freight to an intermediate terminal, or (3) postpone the transport of freight based on a multi-period rolling horizon. Rivera and Mes (2016) formulate this problem as a markov decision process (MDP). Due to the large state space, approximate dynamic programming (ADP) has been used to solve the MDP heuristically. In Rivera and Mes (2017), the authors also used ADP in a similar problem setting with a focus only on cost. They achieved significant cost reductions compared to single-period optimization.

Ambra et al. (2019) makes use of agent-based modeling (ABM) from a decentralized perspective for synchromodal transport. While most papers focus on a logistics service provider (LSP), this paper focuses on the cargo owner's perspective. Besides using ABM, the model also makes use of a geographic information system (GIS) and discreteevent modelling. The optimization model includes disruptions and stochastic events to measure the resilience between different states of the model. Ambra et al. (2019) achieve cost savings up to 5% and a reduced environmental impact of 16% with their optimization model. Tao et al. (2017) focuses, just like Ambra et al. (2019), not on the LSP, but on the cargo owners' perspective, which is a fourth-party LSP. Tao et al. (2017) develop a column-generation approach combined with a graph search heuristic to optimize costs in a transportation network with multiple third-party logistics service providers, considering different cost policies of the LSPs.

**Summary** Synchromodal transport is a form of intermodal transport which uses flexible services. Most papers use the perspective of LSPs that optimizes the movements of goods through a network of nodes and links. A few papers focus on creating paths in a network and moving goods according to the paths. Due to the dynamic environment, most papers' solution approaches have to deal with stochastic events and disruptions. The solution approach often optimizes cost and emissions. The solution approaches, often heuristics, are tested in a simulation model.

## 3.2. Inventory management with transportation

Saldanha (2022) claims the fill rate (percentage of demand fulfilled from available inventory) is an important metric to set the re-order point of stock keeping units (SKUs). Setting the re-order point requires assumptions such as a lead time demand that must follow a certain distribution. Saldanha (2022) has defined a method to set a least-biased estimate of the re-order point with respect to lead-time demand (LTD) distribution and the sample size of the LTD.

Lemmens et al. (2019) introduces a simulation study where a comparison between roadand intermodal transport is presented and evaluated on transport- and inventory costs. The case makes use of a transportation network consisting of one origin, one terminal (transhipment point), and one destination. There are two transportation modes from the origin to the terminal, and from the terminal to the destination. The transportation modes were by road and intermodal, where intermodal was defined by rail in this case. Demand at the destination was independently and identically distributed by a binomial distribution. A base stock policy was chosen as the inventory policy. Lemmens et al. (2019) evaluated six policies. The best policy was parallel usage and real-time switching between the two modes in the transportation network, which resulted in the least total cost, provided that the company has access to intermodal transport infrastructure with fast and efficient transshipments. In this case, inventory costs increased by 7.6% while transport costs decreased by 4% compared to the base case (road transportation only). If no transshipments are available at the terminal, parallel usage of transportation modes without switching is advised.

Some papers focus on optimizing the distribution from a central hub to multiple depots without transshipments. Both Ignaciuk (2019) and Stenius et al. (2018) analyse a similar case with stochastic demand, which is solved with a MILP formulation. Where Ignaciuk (2019) replenishes the depots with batches, Stenius et al. (2018) makes use of an (R, Q) replenishment policy.

**Summary** A few researches have been performed on synchromodal shipping in combination with inventory management. Only basic inventory policies, such as the (R, Q) replenishment policy, have been evaluated in combination with transportation. Studies show that dynamically choosing the transportation mode based on the inventory can reduce total inventory-related costs.

## 3.3. Uncertainty/stochasticity in transportation

Pamucar et al. (2022) has developed a fuzzy multi-criteria decision-making model that uses the ordinal priority approach (OPA) to determine the weight coefficients of criteria. A predefined set of transportation planning strategies is evaluated on the criteria to determine the best strategy. To overcome incomplete-, and uncertain information, Pamucar et al. (2022) uses fuzzy set theory. Where Pamucar et al. (2022) uses fuzzy logic to assess the expert's experience, Koohathongsumrit and Chankham (2022) and Maity et al. (2022) also make use of fuzzy logic but apply it to assess features of certain paths within their problem situations.

Delbart et al. (2021) has performed a literature study on planning models with uncertainty within intermodal- and synchomodal shipping. They have defined a total of six uncertainty types (in order of relevance): transit times, demand, capacity, costs, hub failures, departure times, and cancellations. A total of 42 articles have been categorized by planning level (strategic, tactical, operational) and by uncertainty type.

On the strategic level, Delbart et al. (2021) found that most studies investigated the hub location problem. While some papers proposed exact methods such as linear programming, most papers created (meta)heuristics such as Tabu search, genetic algorithm, and simulated annealing to avoid poor performance of exact methods. These heuristics often perform close to optimal.

On the tactical level, Delbart et al. (2021) mentioned two major models: service network design (SND) and network flow planning (NFP). Both models are for optimally running a given network. SND determines which arcs/services will be planned in a network given a set of orders, and NFP determines the routing of the orders through the network. Demand and transit times are the most commonly researched types of uncertainty for SND models, while for NFP models capacity and transit times are the most common. Most papers use scenario generation as a method to calculate robust solutions/mitigate risks.

On the operational level, Delbart et al. (2021) categorised the papers into two groups: real-time planning and resource management. Real-time planning includes scheduling and routing decisions on real-time information, and resource management includes the allocation or repositioning of resources. Papers dealing with resource management often focus on fleet management with stochastic demand. Most papers focusing on real-time planning use rerouting or replanning as a method to deal with uncertainty/risks. Also, in this case, the majority uses an approximation to solve the problems, varying from a metaheuristic, matheuristic, or genetic algorithm. For example, Burgholzer et al. (2013) uses a microsimulation model to optimize an intermodal network with stochastic arrival times and reduced capacity on links (disruptions). The model can choose to stay on a disrupted link, move to another link on the same transportation mode, or move to another link with a different transportation mode. When minimizing travel time, rail- and road transportation seem to be preferred over inland waterways in case of disruptions.

**Summary** Uncertainty can be tackled on different levels. On the operational level, rerouting/replanning is often the method to deal with real-time stochastic events. On the tactical- and strategic level, scenario generation is commonly used. Stochastic events are often modelled as delayed, or cancelled trips, with dynamic capacity and demand.

## 3.4. Learning strategies in transportation models

To overcome high-dimensional problems, machine learning might be a better approach to real-life complex problems. As mentioned in Section 3.1, Rivera and Mes (2016) uses Approximate Dynamic Programming as a learning technique to choose the transport mode for a freight.

Ge (2021) makes use of ant colony optimization (ACO) to select the optimal path in a multimodal network. In this problem instance, only the cost and transport time are optimized while considering occasionally delayed shipments. Shipping by waterways was often chosen as the best path due to the low cost. After applying penalty costs for late deliveries, and inventory costs for early deliveries, a combination of highways and waterways was often chosen as optimal.

Farahani et al. (2021) proposes a deep reinforcement learning model of the container allocation problem, where containers are real-time allocated to trucks or trains. The model is compared to and outperforms a heuristic, stochastic program, and method considering re-planning. The model has been formulated as an MDP.

**Summary** Several papers use learning models to determine good policies. Reinforcement learning is a common method when trying to learn optimal decisions considering the current state. These models often have the ability to perform well in complex environments.

## 3.5. Summary of literature

Synchromodal shipping is the operational activity of choosing the best transport mode given certain circumstances. Where using only road transportation is quite reliable, using multiple modes of transportation can be less reliable with more disruptions. Therefore, the core problem of intermodal-, and thus synchromodal transport, is dealing with uncertainty. The literature considers a variety of optimization models applied to synchromodal transport, such as heuristics, learning models, and agent-based models.

The field of inventory management in combination with transportation is not widely researched in the literature. Often basic replenishment policies are combined with the transportation mode choice. This often leads to little cost reductions.

From an LSP's perspective, the uncertainty of intermodal shipping can be dealt with by generating scenarios including stochasticity to optimally determine the schedules of transportation. Rescheduling is used to overcome uncertainty on the operational level. Uncertainty is often modelled as delayed, or cancelled trips, with dynamic capacity and demand.

As mentioned in Chapter 1, ADIL desires to improve their sustainability in its transportation process. The context analysis shows that a high share of shipments is carried out by road transportation. The literature review shows that intermodal transport causes fewer emissions over a certain distance. We conclude that the solution direction should go towards increasing the share of intermodal transport, and subsequently reducing the share of road transportation, to achieve a reduction in total emissions.

This chapter deals with research question 3 by presenting the problem formulation. First, the formulation is introduced in Section 4.1. Section 4.2 summarizes the decisions that can be made in the problem formulation. Section 4.3 shows the MDP formulation of the problem. Section 4.4 lists the requirements and assumptions of the formulation. Finally, Section 4.5 concludes this chapter by stating the conclusions of the problem formulation.

### 4.1. Problem introduction

The problem formulation is elaborated on into three modules, which are the transportation network, inventory management system, and ordering process. Afterwards, we also summarize the stochastic parameters of the formulation.

#### **Transportation network**

We define a directed graph *G* as a transportation network, where  $G = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ . The set  $\mathcal{V}$  represent the set of nodes (vertices) in the graph, connected by the set of arcs  $\mathcal{E}$  (edges). The set of nodes  $\mathcal{V}$  consists of mutually exclusive subsets warehouses  $\mathcal{V}^{wh}$ , transfer points  $\mathcal{V}^{tp}$ , and suppliers  $\mathcal{V}^s$ , so  $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}^{wh} \cup \mathcal{V}^{tp} \cup \mathcal{V}^s$ . Each node's location is determined by the latitude and longitude coordinates.

Each arc  $e \in \mathcal{E}$  has an origin node and a destination node  $v \in \mathcal{V}$ . Every arc e is assigned a transportation method  $m_e \in \mathcal{M}$ . Based on the transportation method  $m_e$  and the distance  $d_e \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  in kilometers, the duration of an arc  $b_e \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  in hours can be calculated with the average velocity in km/h of the transportation method  $f_m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ ,  $m \in \mathcal{M}$ . The emissions  $a_e \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  of arc e in kg CO<sub>2</sub> can be calculated with the average emission per kilometer per container per transportation method  $g_m \in \mathbb{R}^+$ . The set of arcs  $\mathcal{E}$  consists of the mutually exclusive subsets of road transportation  $\mathcal{E}^{road}$ , rail transportation  $\mathcal{E}^{rail}$ , inland waterways transportation  $\mathcal{E}^{iww}$ , and sea transportation  $\mathcal{E}^{sea}$ , so  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{road} \cup \mathcal{E}^{rail} \cup \mathcal{E}^{iww} \cup \mathcal{E}^{sea}$ . All arcs using intermodal transport have fixed scheduled departure times  $Z_e, e \in \mathcal{E} \setminus \mathcal{E}^{road}$ . Arcs using road transportation are flexible, which means these arcs can be scheduled on request.

In the problem formulation, we may decide to transport goods between nodes via arcs. To reduce the decision problem of which arcs to use, the transportation network *G* is

used to create a fixed set of paths upfront  $\mathcal{P}$  for each supplier. Each path  $p \in \mathcal{P}$  consist of a set of nodes  $\mathcal{V}_p$  and arcs  $\mathcal{E}_p$ . If we want to transport items from a supplier, we choose a path  $p \in \mathcal{P}$  on which the items travel.

#### Inventory management system

We define a set of items  $\mathcal{I}$ , where each supplier  $s \in \mathcal{S}$  has a mutually exclusive set of items  $\mathcal{I}_s \subseteq \mathcal{I}$  ( $\mathcal{I}_s \cap \mathcal{I}_{s'} = \emptyset; s, s' \in \mathcal{S}; s \neq s'$ ) which it supplies to ADIL. Each item *i* has a physical inventory  $\alpha_{it}$ , inventory position  $\beta_{it}$ , demand  $\lambda_{it}$ , ordered volume  $\gamma_{it}$ , delivered volume  $\theta_{it}$ , and lost sales  $\xi_{it}$  in week  $t \in T$ , and are all expressed in number of collo. The actual inventory (4.1) at time t is calculated by the actual inventory minus demand and actually delivered orders of time t - 1. If lost sales occurred, we add the number of lost sales to the actual inventory to correct for negative inventory. The same applies to the inventory position (4.2) which uses the ordered volume instead of the delivered volume. The ordered quantity (4.3) is calculated by the number of pallets ordered  $\omega_{ic}$  of item i in container *c* in the current time *t*, multiplied by the order multiple  $u_i$ . The delivered quantity (4.4) is the sum of all pallets ordered, multiplied by the order multiple, of all placed orders until time t, where the expected arrival time  $t^* + b_p$  of a container c equals  $t, t^* < t$ . The expected arrival time is based on the expected path duration  $b_{\nu}$ , which is further elaborated on later in this section. Each item *i* has a reorder point  $w_i$  after which an order is placed. Note that all figures are expressed on collo, while  $\omega_{ic}$  is expressed in pallets.

$$\alpha_{it} = \alpha_{it-1} - \lambda_{it-1} + \theta_{it-1} + \xi_{it} \qquad t > 0 \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$
(4.1)

$$\beta_{it} = \beta_{it-1} - \lambda_{it-1} + \gamma_{it-1} + \xi_{it} \qquad t > 0 \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$
(4.2)

$$\gamma_{it} = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_{\alpha,0} \in O'_{i}} \omega_{ic} u_{i} \qquad t > 0 \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$

$$(4.3)$$

$$\theta_{it} = \sum_{o \in \mathcal{O}'_{t^{\star}}, t^{\star} \in \mathcal{T}} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_o, t^{\star} + b_p = t, p \in \mathcal{P}'_o} \omega_{ic} u_i \quad t^{\star} < t, t > 0 \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$
(4.4)

#### **Ordering process**

In this problem instance, we need to comply with the demand of each item *i*. For this reason, we need to order units of item *i*. First of all, items are ordered in multiples of pallets, which contain  $u_i \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  collo in one pallet. We transport items by the use of a container, which has a certain capacity of *l* pallets. We always order a full container load (FCL). Items are placed as pallets in a container  $c \in C$ . The amount of pallets placed of item *i* in container *c* is  $\omega_{ic} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ . Note that different items may be present in a single container *c*. Dependent on the



Figure 4.1.: Structure of an order  $o \in O$ .

demand of items, we may order multiple containers at a supplier *s* at time *t*. This set of containers  $C_o \subset C$  at time *t* is linked to one order  $o \in O_t$ . Note that order *o* is always linked to a single supplier  $s_o \in S$ , which means that individual orders are independent. A container  $c \in C_o$ ,  $o \in O_t$  only may be packed with items  $\mathcal{I}_s$  of supplier  $s_o \in S$ .

The structure of order  $o \in O$  consist of a subset of containers  $C_o \subset C$  (Figure 4.1). A container  $c \in C_o$  is packed with pallets of a subset of items  $\mathcal{I}_{s_o} \subset \mathcal{I}, s_o \in S$  and can travel via one path of the set of paths  $\mathcal{P}_o \subset \mathcal{P}$ . A path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$  is based on a subset of nodes  $\mathcal{V}_p \in \mathcal{V}$  and arcs  $\mathcal{E}_p \in \mathcal{E}$ . For a path  $p \in \mathcal{P}$ , the parameters distance  $d_e$ , emission  $a_e$ , and cost  $c_e$  can be also calculated through the sums of the parameter values of all edges  $e \in \mathcal{E}_p$ , e.g.,  $d_p = \sum_{e \in \mathcal{E}_p} d_e$ ,  $\forall p \in \mathcal{P}$ . The parameter path duration  $b_e$  is calculated slightly differently, according to (4.5). The parameter 2n refers to the transfer time to and from an intermodal arc.

$$b_{p} = \sum_{e \in \mathcal{E}_{p}} \begin{cases} b_{e} & m_{e} = road \\ b_{e} + 2n & m_{e} \neq road \end{cases} \quad \forall p \in \mathcal{P}$$

$$(4.5)$$

We define the subset  $\mathcal{O}'_t$  as the subset of executed orders at time t, where  $\mathcal{O}_t$  represent all orders generated at time t, so  $\mathcal{O}'_t \subset \mathcal{O}_t$ . We also define the set of executed paths  $\mathcal{P}'$  which are the executed paths when scheduling an order.

When an order  $o \in O$  is created, the order creation date, ready for transport date, and the required date are determined. The transportation date is determined based on the order creation date, plus the production time  $q_s$  of supplier  $s \in S$ .

#### Stochastic variables

The demand  $\lambda_{it}$  and the path duration delay  $\phi_p$  are stochastic variables in this problem formulation. This means that the demand of all items  $\mathcal{I}$  at time *t* is unknown upfront and becomes known at the end of time *t*.

The path delay  $\phi_p$  is also stochastic. Every arc  $e \in \mathcal{E}_p$  of a path p includes a delay distribution. When we calculate the expected arrival time of a path, we calculate with the expected arc delay  $E(\phi_p)$ . We define the expected path duration as  $\hat{b}_p$  with (4.5). The actual path duration is a random observation, defined as  $b_p^*$ , from the probability distributions  $\phi_e \in \mathcal{E}_p$  and is only used for the physical inventory  $\alpha_{it}$ , which is further elaborated in the model performance evaluation section. The actual path duration  $b_p^*$  becomes known to the model when the container arrives at time  $t + b_p^*$ .

$$\widehat{b_p} = \sum_{e \in \mathcal{E}_p} (b_e + \phi_e) \quad \forall p \in \mathcal{P}$$
(4.6)

Table 4.1 provides an overview of the sets in the formation. Table 4.2 shows the set of variables that are determined by the solution approach. Table 4.3 shows an overview of all parameters.

Set	ID	Description
Items	$i \in \mathcal{I}$	Set of items in inventory that need to be replenished by
		the model.
Suppliers	$s\in\mathcal{S}$	Set of suppliers of the items in inventory.
Nodes	$v \in \mathcal{V}$	Set of all nodes in graph G.
Arcs	$e\in \mathcal{E}$	Set of all arcs in graph G.
Modes	$m\in\mathcal{M}$	Set of all shipment methods,
		$\mathcal{M} = \{$ sea, rail, road, iww, sea $\}$ .
Containers	$c\in \mathcal{C}$	Set of containers loaded with pallets.
Schedules	$z\in\mathcal{Z}$	Set of schedules (departure times) of an arc.
Orders	$o\in\mathcal{O}$	Set of all possible orders that can be generated by the
		inventory management system.
Paths	$p\in \mathcal{P}$	Set of all possible paths generated.
Time	$t\in \mathcal{T}$	Set of weeks with length <i>h</i> looking forward,
horizon		$\mathcal{T} = \{0, 1, \dots, T\}.$

Table 4.1.: List of all sets in the problem formulation.

Table 4.2.: List of all variables in the problem formulation.

Variable	ID	Description
Inventory	$\alpha_{it}, \beta_{it}$	Physical inventory $(\alpha_{it})$ and inventory position $(\beta_{it})$ of item $i \in \mathcal{I}$ at the beginning of week $t \in \mathcal{T}$ .
Transit inventory	$\gamma_{it}$ , $ heta_{it}$	Ordered volume ( $\gamma_{it}$ ) and delivered volume ( $\theta_{it}$ ) of item <i>i</i> at the beginning of week <i>t</i> .
Demand	$\lambda_{it}$	Actual demand of item <i>i</i> in week <i>t</i> .
Lost sales	$\xi_{it}$	Lost sales in collo for item $i$ in week $t$ .
Pallet quantity	$\omega_{ic}$	Quantity of pallets of item $i$ in container $c$ .
Arc delay	$\phi_e$	The delay of arc <i>e</i> in hours.

Parameter	ID	Description
Distance	$d_e$	Distance in kilometers of arc $e \in \mathcal{E}$ .
Emission	a <sub>e</sub>	$CO_2$ emissions caused by arc <i>e</i> .
Duration	b <sub>e</sub>	Duration of arc <i>e</i> in hours.
Mode	m <sub>e</sub>	Transportation method of arc <i>e</i> .
Mode velocity	$f_m$	The average velocity of a transportation method $m \in \mathcal{M}$ in kilometers per hour
Mode emissions	8m	The average amount of kg $CO_2$ emissions caused by transportation method <i>m</i> per kilometer per TEU.
Path cost	C <sub>p</sub>	Cost of path $p$ in euros ( $\in$ ).
Inventory cost	c <sup>inv</sup> , c <sup>ls</sup>	The holding cost $c_i^{inv}$ <b>per pallet</b> per time unit, and the lost sales cost $c_i^{ls}$ <b>per collo</b> .
Production time	<i>q</i> s	The number of weeks the supplier $s_s \in S$ requires to produce an order.
Order multiple	u <sub>i</sub>	The number of collo of item <i>i</i> that fit on one pallet.
Reorder point	w <sub>i</sub>	The inventory level after which we place a new order for item <i>i</i> .
Transfer time	п	The number of hours to transfer a container to and from an intermodal transport mode.
Capacity	1	The capacity of a container in number of pallets.
Review period	r	The review cycle in days in which articles are checked on their inventory.
Planning horizon	h	The number of days looking forward to defining the time horizon $\mathcal{T}$ .

Table 4.3.: List of all parameters in the problem.

### 4.2. Decision space

This section provides an overview of the decision space in the problem formulation from Section 4.1. The following decisions are relevant to the problem formulation:

- 1. For every week  $t \in \mathcal{T}$ , determine if an order  $o \in \mathcal{O}_t$  is executed for item  $i \in \mathcal{I}$ .
- 2. For every order  $o \in O_t$ , determine how many containers are used to transport pallets.
- For every order *o* ∈ O<sub>t</sub>, determine how many pallets of items I<sub>s</sub> of supplier *s* ∈ S are ordered.
- 4. For every order  $o \in O_t$ , determine what the allocation is of the pallets into the container(s)  $C_o \subset C$ .
- 5. For every container  $c \in C_o$ , determine what path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$  will be used to transport container *c*.

With a total of five decisions in the problem formulation, the decision space is large. In Chapter 5 we propose the solution approach that will tackle this problem.

### 4.3. MDP formulation

The problem instance can be modelled as a Markov Decision Process. The MDP formulation consists of stages, states, decisions, transitions, and optimality equations. All elements are elaborated on below.

#### Stages

The stages of the MDP model are set to each Monday of the week, which is  $t = 0, 7, 14, ... \in \mathcal{T}$ . Every time *t* we get to make one or more decisions about shipping orders. At the beginning of stage *t*, we get to make a decision. After making the decision in time *t*, the exogenous information arrives.

#### States

The state of the MDP is determined by the actual inventory  $\alpha_{it}$ , and the newly defined variable incoming orders  $\beta_{its}^{\star}$  for  $t \in \mathcal{T}$ . We define the new variable  $\beta_{its}^{\star}$  as the number of collo of item *i* in transit at time *t* which are expected to arrive at time t + s, i.e., over *s* days. This concludes to (4.7). The physical inventory is calculated with the physical inventory of t - 1 minus the demand  $\lambda_{it}$  (reduced by lost sales  $\xi_{it}$ ) plus the in transit collo with one-time unit left s = 1 at time t - 1. The in-transit orders are calculated by (4.9) with the in-transit orders at time t - 1 with s + 1 time units left, added by the executed orders  $\mathcal{O}_t$ , where the expected path duration  $\hat{b}_p = s$ .

$$S_t = [\alpha_{it}, \beta_{its}^{\star}]_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \qquad t \in \mathcal{T} \qquad (4.7)$$

$$\alpha_{it} = \alpha_{it-1} - (\lambda_{it-1} - \xi_{it}) + \beta^{\star}_{it-1s} \qquad s = 1, i \in \mathcal{I}, t \in \mathcal{T}$$

$$(4.8)$$

$$\beta_{its}^{\star} = \beta_{it-1s+1}^{\star} + \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_o, \widehat{b_p} = s, p \in \mathcal{P}'_o} \omega_{ic} u_i \quad \forall s, i \in \mathcal{I}, o \in \mathcal{O}'_t, t \in \mathcal{T}$$
(4.9)

#### Decisions

During each stage t, a set of orders  $\mathcal{O}_t$  is generated, which consist of a set of containers  $\mathcal{C}_o$  and paths  $\mathcal{P}_o, o \in \mathcal{O}_t$ . For every order  $o \in \mathcal{O}_t$ , we decide to ship it on a certain path. The new set  $\mathcal{O}'_t$  is defined as the set of orders which is executed at time t, so  $\mathcal{O}'_t \subseteq \mathcal{O}_t$ . All generated orders  $\mathcal{O}_t$  are executed when generated, so  $\mathcal{O}_t = \mathcal{O}'_t$ .

The decision-variable  $x_t \in \mathcal{X}_t$  is defined, where  $\mathcal{X}_t$  is the set of decisions which can be taken in stage t (4.10). Variable  $x_t$  is a binary vector which is 1 if container c is shipped with path p at time t, and 0 otherwise. Constraint (4.11) shows that 1 path is chosen for each container.

$$x_t = [x_{cpt}]_{c \in \mathcal{C}_o, p \in \mathcal{P}_o, o \in \mathcal{O}_t} \quad \forall t \in \mathcal{T}$$

$$(4.10)$$

$$\sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}_o} x_{cpt} = 1 \qquad \qquad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_o, o \in \mathcal{O}_t, t \in \mathcal{T}$$
(4.11)

The decision  $x_t$  needs to be translated to the new sets of executed orders O' and executed paths P'. The set of executed orders  $O'_t$  equal to the generated orders (4.12). The set of
#### 4. Problem formulation

executed paths  $P'_t$  is determined by (4.13), which adds a path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_t$ , if path p is chosen for container c at time t.

$$\mathcal{O}_t^{\prime,\pi} = \mathcal{O}_t \tag{4.12}$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{o}^{\prime,\pi} = \left\{ p \in \mathcal{P}_{o} : x_{cpt} = 1, \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{o} \right\} \quad \forall o \in \mathcal{O}_{t}, t \in \mathcal{T}$$

$$(4.13)$$

#### **Exogenous information**

As mentioned in the problem introduction (Section 4.1), the problem has two stochastic variables, which are the demand  $\lambda_{it}$  and the arc delay  $\phi_e$ , and thus the actual path duration  $b_p^*$ . The actual demand of an item *i* at time *t* becomes known at the end of time *t*, i.e. after the decision is chosen. The actual path duration  $b_p^*$ ,  $p \in \mathcal{P}_l$ ,  $o \in \mathcal{O}_t$  becomes known to the model at time  $t + b_p^*$ , but we already know that  $b_p^* \ge b_p$ . Therefore, the exogenous information  $\Omega_t$  is a vector of the demand figures (4.14) and paths with an actual arrival time *t*.

$$\Omega_t = [\lambda_{it}, b_p^{\star}]_{\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, p \in \mathcal{P}'_{o, o} \in \mathcal{O}'_{i\star}, t^{\star} + b_n^{\star} = t} \quad t \in \mathcal{T}$$

$$(4.14)$$

#### Transition and optimality equations

The transition function  $S^M$  is shown in (4.15). The current state  $S_t$  is determined by the transition function  $S^M$ , based on the previous stage's state  $S_{t-1}$ , the decision from the previous state  $x_{t-1}$ , and the exogenous information  $\omega_t$ . The transition function  $S^M$  includes the equations (4.7-4.14) in this section.

$$S_t = S^M(S_{t-1}, x_{t-1}, \Omega_t)$$
(4.15)

The total expected costs over the horizon need to be minimized. To achieve this, a policy  $\pi$  is defined that takes a decision  $x_t^{\pi} \in \mathcal{X}_t$  in all possible states  $S_t \in \mathcal{S}$ . We try to find the policy  $\pi \in \Pi$  that minimizes the cost function (4.16) over the entire horizon (4.17). Note the extra parameter  $c^{CO_2}$  in this equation, which equals the cost for causing one kg of CO<sub>2</sub>. During each stage *t*, the cost function consists of (1) the action costs, which include path- and emission costs, and (2) the state cost, which consists of holding- and lost sales costs.

$$C_t(x_t^{\pi}) = \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}_o^{\prime,\pi}, o \in \mathcal{O}_t^{\prime,\pi}} (c_p + c^{CO_2} a_p) + \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} (c_i^{inv} \alpha_{it} + c_i^{ls} \xi_{it})$$
(4.16)

$$\min_{\pi \in \Pi} \mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{t \in \mathcal{T}} C_t(x_t^{\pi}) \middle| S_0\right]$$
(4.17)

The decision  $x_t$  taken at time t, according to policy  $\pi$ , determines on which path in  $\mathcal{P}_t^{\prime,\pi}$  a container is executed in (4.17). The MDP formulation is a stochastic, sequential optimization problem, which is why (4.17) is transformed to (4.18). This formula shows

#### 4. Problem formulation

that the value function  $V_t(S_t)$  of state  $S_t$  minimizes the direct costs with decision  $x_t^{\pi}$  together with the future costs in the next state  $S^M(S_t, x_t^{\pi}, \omega)$ .

$$V_t(S_t) = \min_{x_t^{\pi} \in \mathcal{X}_t} \left( C_t(x_t^{\pi}) + \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_{t+1}} p_{\omega}^{\Omega_{t+1}} V_{t+1}(S^*(St, x_t^{\pi}, \omega)) \right) \quad \forall S_t \in \mathcal{S}$$
(4.18)

MDP problems often suffer from three curses of dimensionality, which makes it hard to solve these problems to optimality. These curses are (1) the state space, (2) the decision space, and (3) the transition space. If one or more of these dimensions becomes too large, it is nearly impossible to calculate the optimal solution.

The curses of dimensionality also apply to this case. Consider a single item with a max physical inventory  $\alpha_{it}$  of  $10^4$  units, and a max of  $10^3$  in-transit units with a max of  $10^2$  release days. If we consider  $10^2$  items, the state space S already becomes  $10^4 10^3 10^2 10^2 = 10^{11}$  states. Looking at the decision space, i.e., the ordering process, if we consider  $10^2$  suppliers, each having  $10^1$  items, where we order at max  $10^2$  pallets in max  $10^1$  containers, that may travel with one of  $10^1$  different paths. The decision space becomes a total of  $10^2 10^1 10^2 10^1 10^1 = 10^7$  decisions at every stage *t*. Finally, looking at the transition space, if we consider  $10^2$  items, each having on average  $10^2$  possible demand observations every week, and if we execute about  $10^2$  containers every week with a time frame of  $10^1$  days the containers may actually arrive, the transition space becomes  $10^2 10^2 10^2 10^2 10^1 = 10^7$  possible transitions. This concludes that the curses of dimensionality also apply to this formulation.

## 4.4. Assumptions

The problem formulation requires a number of assumptions. The assumptions are split into two categories. First, the assumptions related to the preparations for the formulation are stated. Second, the assumptions related to the actual running/optimization of the model are stated.

#### Model preparation assumptions

- The transportation network requires a predefined directed graph, consisting of arcs and nodes.
- The demand distribution statistical parameters per item have to be known.
- A modal change at a transfer node does not result into additional cost or emissions when creating the fixed set of paths per supplier.
- All items are delivered on euro pallets. The order multiple *u<sub>i</sub>* (collo per pallet) of items delivered on block pallets is multiplied by 0.8, as the capacity of a euro pallet is 80% of a block pallet.
- In total one warehouse is considered, for which we use the largest warehouse of ADIL.

## 4. Problem formulation

#### Model optimization assumptions

- The departure times of intermodal arcs are once a week at a fixed moment in time.
- Production delays at suppliers are not considered, which means an order is always ready at the transportation date at the supplier's location.
- Once an order is executed, the planned transportation path takes place and will not change, regardless of delays.
- Weight of a collo/pallet is not considered a constraint for packing containers.
- All orders are placed on Mondays.

## 4.5. Conclusion

The problem formulation consists of three modules. First, the transportation network creates paths for each supplier in Europe. Second, the inventory management system tracks the inventory of all items and generates orders to create item replenishments to fulfil future demand. The container optimizer determines the best path to follow for a container in an order. The objective of the problem formulation is to reduce costs and emissions.

The problem is modelled as a Markov Decision Process, where the state is defined as the physical and in-transit inventory per item. The state space, decision space, and transition space can become large in this problem (curses of dimensionality), which is why the MDP formulation should be solved approximately with a heuristic approach.

# 5. Solution design

This chapter presents the approach to the solution design which should be able to make the right decision regarding packing- and transporting containers to the warehouse of ADIL. The procedures related to inventory control and transportation path creation are implemented in the solution design.

The problem formulation showed how we formulated our problem in terms of sets, parameters, constraints, and variables. In this chapter, we present the solution approach. We propose the heuristics and algorithms that have been applied in the transportation network module, inventory management module, and order optimizer module. For the order optimizer module, we also propose a machine-learning model.

First, Section 5.1 describes the general structure of the solution. The heuristic to generate paths in the transportation network is discussed in Section 5.2 (module 1). Section 5.3 describes the inventory management and ordering process (module 2). Section 5.4 demonstrates the method to evaluate and choose container-path combinations (module 3). Then, Section 5.5 presents a machine learning approach to solve the container-path evaluation process of module 3, but now with a machine learning strategy. Finally, the conclusions follow in Section 5.6.

## 5.1. Solution approach

As the problem introduction mentions, ADIL desires to reduce their environmental impact by reducing its carbon emissions. In the context of ADIL, the main focus in literature is the modal shift from unimodal transport to intermodal transport (see the introduction of Section 3), since intermodal transport causes on average fewer emissions per unit of distance travelled. Most of ADIL's emissions are caused by road transportation (see Figure 2.5). Therefore, the solution approach aims to decrease total emissions by reducing road transportation and consequently increasing intermodal transport.

Section 4.2 shows an overview of the decision space of the problem formulation. The decisions are categorised into three modules in the solution design. These modules are elaborated in Table 5.1, showing which decision is tackled in which module.

#### 5. Solution design

Module	Decision	Purpose
Transportation network	-	Create a fixed set of paths for every supplier based on different objectives.
Inventory management system	1, 2, 3, 4	Create orders for items to increase inventory lev- els to cope with demand. Orders should include containers packed with pallets containing items.
Order optimizer	5	Evaluate the characteristics and stochasticity of paths and choose the best path for a container.

#### Table 5.1.: Solution modules.

Table 5.1 shows that the transportation network module does not include a decision from the decision space of Section 4.2. That is because the fixed set of paths per supplier can be created upfront and does not change over time. The inventory management system tackles most decisions regarding creating orders. The container scheduler determines the best path choice considering stochastic problem elements. Note that the transportation network- and inventory management system module are considered in both solution approaches, but the container scheduler module differs per approach.

This solution design is presented as a step-by-step approach in Figure 5.1. The three modules from Table 5.1 are linked with one of the eight items in Figure 5.1. The inventory management system corresponds with box (1.), where the set of orders  $\mathcal{O}_t$  are generated at time *t*. The transportation network extracts the set of paths  $\mathcal{P}_o$  for a supplier  $s_o \in S$  at box (2.). The container scheduler corresponds with box (4.).

The process starts with the inventory management system. This module contains all items  $\mathcal{I}$  and suppliers  $\mathcal{S}$  with their actual inventory  $\alpha_{it}$ , inventory position  $\beta_{it}$ , demand/forecast  $\lambda_{it}$ , ordered- $\gamma_{it}$  and delivered volume  $\theta_{it}$ , for all  $t \in \mathcal{T}$ , where t equals one day in the time horizon. The inventory management system manages the inventory variables of all items and generates orders  $\mathcal{O}_t$  at time t to fulfil future demand. The solution approach for the standard problem formulation operates on a weekly basis, which means orders are generated on  $t = \{0, 7, 14, \ldots\}$ . The orders  $\mathcal{O}$  are based on full container loads (FCL)  $C_o$ , implying a container  $c \in C_o$  is packed at its max capacity  $l_c$ .

When the inventory management system generates an order  $o \in O_t$ , the transportation network *G* is consulted to determine the top *k* paths  $\mathcal{P}_o$ . The order *o* needs to be shipped from the supplier's location to the warehouse of ADIL. Based on the transportation network *G*, the top *k* paths will be generated. Each path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$  may use different transportation modes  $m \in \mathcal{M}$  and arcs  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ , each having different transportation lead times  $b_p$ . Also, paths that use intermodal transportation modes ( $m \neq road$ ) have to comply with the set of departure schedules  $\mathcal{Z}$  of LSPs.

When an order *o* is generated, the container scheduler will select a path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$ . Paths using transportation by water or rail may have a longer duration, and often the total emission is lower than paths using transportation by road. The order optimizer determines a path based on a heuristic evaluating different scenarios on the transportation duration of a path.

Box (5.) in Figure 5.1 generates an observation of the path duration  $b_p^*$  which is the actual path duration in the performance evaluation. Box (6.) places the order in the inventory position with the expected path duration, and box (7.) uses the actual path duration which is relevant to the actual inventory. If all orders  $\mathcal{O}_t$  and containers  $\mathcal{C}_o$ ,  $o \in \mathcal{O}_t$  are scheduled, the time horizon is increased to t + 1 in box (8.).

The three interacting modules consist of a number of heuristics to manage the decisions taken. Section 5.2 explains the creation of paths for every supplier, based on the transportation module. Section 5.3 elaborates on the inventory management system module, and Section 5.4 explains the container scheduler module in more detail.



# 5.2. Path generation (module 1)

The transportation network module is consulted to generate a fixed set of paths  $P_s$  for each sup-

plier  $s \in S$  which are used for

transporting containers. Since these paths do not change over time, the paths can be determined upfront for each supplier. Three objectives are considered in the development of paths, which are (1) cost, (2) emission, and (3) time. While in literature distance is sometimes also used as an objective, it is related to all three objectives and therefore not considered as an objective in determining paths.

This module is split into two subsections. Section 5.2.1 explains the method used to generate a path on a directed graph. Then, Section 5.2.2 shows the method how to generate the top k paths for a supplier.

## 5.2.1. Path generation

The problem formulation mentioned that the transportation network is modelled as a directed graph  $G \leftarrow (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ , where  $\mathcal{V}$  represents the nodes (i.e., cities), and  $\mathcal{E}$  represents

the arcs. A path will be generated with the shortest path algorithm. In this case, 'shortest' means the lowest total cost, emission, or time of a path.

Dijkstra's algorithm (Dijkstra, 1959) will be used as the shortest path algorithm. Dijkstra's algorithm can determine the shortest path in a directed graph and runs in polynomial time. The algorithm determines the shortest path based on a source node and a destination node. The algorithm can run for each objective, which is cost, time, or emission to calculate the path with the least cost, time, or emission, respectively. Algorithm 1 shows the outline of Dijkstra's algorithm.

Algorithm 1 Dijkstra's algorithm (adapted from Mehlhorn and Sanders (2008)).

Red	quire: graph, origin, destination,	
1:	for $\forall v \in$ graph.vertices <b>do</b>	
2:	$dist_v \leftarrow \infty$	Unknown distance from source to v
3:	$prev_v \leftarrow \varnothing$	$\triangleright$ Predecessor of v
4:	$Q \leftarrow Q \cup \{v\}$	
5:	end for	
6:	while $Q \neq arnothing$ do	
7:	$u \leftarrow \min_{v \in Q} dist_v$	
8:	$Q \leftarrow Q \setminus \{u\}$	⊳ Remove u in Q
9:	if $u = target$ then	
10:	$S \leftarrow \{\}$	
11:	while $u \neq source do$	Construct shortest path
12:	$S \leftarrow \{u\} \cup S$	
13:	$u \leftarrow prev_u$	
14:	end while	
15:	return S	
16:	end if	
17:	for neighbor $v$ of $u \in Q$ do	Check all neighbors in Q
18:	$alt \leftarrow dist_u + graph.arcs_{uv}$	
19:	if $alt < dist_v$ then	
20:	$dist_v \leftarrow alt$	
21:	$prev_v \leftarrow u$	
22:	end if	
23:	end for	
24:	end while	

## 5.2.2. Generate a set of k-optimal paths

The optimal path, in theory, might not always be the best path in practice. Besides, sometimes a trade-off between costs and emissions is the best option. This requires another method to create paths compared to just calculating the optimal path related to a certain objective. The *k*-shortest path algorithm is used to overcome this problem. The *k*-shortest path algorithm calculates not only the optimal path, but also the second, third, and  $k^{\text{th}}$  optimal path. This algorithm returns the set of *k*-optimal paths.

#### 5. Solution design

The *k*-shortest path algorithm does have some shortfalls. To provide an example, Figure 5.2a shows a path created with Dijkstra's algorithm from a city in France to a city in the Netherlands. Then the second best path is calculated with the *k*-shortest path algorithm, and is displayed in Figure 5.2b. While the second path is different, it is a very slight adjustment to the first path. If both paths use the same transport modes, path 2 is less relevant for this case to evaluate, due to the little difference in costs and emissions. Preferably, a set of adequately different *k*-optimal paths is returned, focused on using different intermodal paths.



Figure 5.2.: Comparison of two nearly-identical paths

A customised version of the *k*-shortest path algorithm is presented to be applicable for this instance. The focus is to create a set of *k*-optimal paths using various arcs with different transportation modes. Algorithm 2 shows the customised version of the *k*-shortest path algorithm. The algorithm uses Dijkstra's algorithm (Algorithm 1) to calculate the paths. After calculating the  $\mathbf{k}^{\text{th}}$  shortest path, the algorithm removes arcs using intermodal transportation modes for calculating the  $\mathbf{k+1}^{\text{th}}$  shortest path.

To determine the k-shortest paths in this case with different transport modes, we introduce a customised k-shortest path algorithm. In this instance, a comparison of different paths with different transportation modes has the focus. Therefore, an algorithm is required that generates different paths with different intermodal arcs. Algorithm 2 shows the algorithm applied in this case. The algorithm shows the k-optimal paths, where each path has a different set of intermodal arcs.

Algorithm 2 is able to calculate the *k*-shortest paths using different intermodal arcs. The algorithm can be run for all objectives (cost, emission, time). For every supplier in the simulation model, the *k*-shortest path is called for every objective. E.g., when k = 3, the top three paths are calculated for each objective. Paths may appear multiple times in the top 3 of different objectives. Therefore the final set of paths for a supplier is determined by the union of all sets.

Algorithm 2 Customised k-shortest	path algorithm.
-----------------------------------	-----------------

**Require:** origin O, destination D, graph G 1:  $P^* \leftarrow \{dijkstra(O, D, G)\}$ ▷ List of *k*-optimal paths, initialize with optimal 2: **for**  $k \leftarrow 1, ..., K - 1$  **do**  $P \leftarrow \{\}$ ▷ Set of possible *k*-optimal paths 3:  $arcs \leftarrow \{e \in \mathcal{E}_p : e_m \neq road, \forall e \in \mathcal{E}_p, p \in P^*\}$ 4:  $arcs^{\star} \leftarrow arcs_1 \times \ldots \times arcs_n$ Create Cartesian product of subsets 5: **for** *subset* in *arcs*<sup>\*</sup> **do** 6:  $\mathcal{E} \leftarrow \mathcal{E} \setminus subset$ 7:  $P \leftarrow P \cup \{dijkstra(O, D)\}$ 8:  $\mathcal{E} \leftarrow \mathcal{E} \cup subset$ 9: end for 10: P.sort 11:  $P^{\star} \leftarrow P^{\star} \cup \{P_0\}$ 12: 13: end for 14: return  $P^*$ 

## 5.3. Inventory management system (module 2)

The inventory management system needs to create orders every week (t = 0, 7, 14, ...) to increase inventory to fulfil future demand. This module tracks and predicts the inventory levels of all items based on incoming orders and demand forecasts.

In total, two heuristics are required. Section 5.3.1 explains the first heuristic which determines what items are ordered in what quantity. Section 5.3.2 describes the heuristic that divides the items over the available containers.

## 5.3.1. Heuristic: Item quantity ordering

Inventory problems are often modelled according to a (r, Q) or (s, S) policy. In these cases, the points r and s are based on strategies related to safety stock, demand volatility, and lead times. Also in this case, we make use of a reorder point, which is based on the expected demand during lead time. The lead time is based on the supplier production lead time, order horizon, and review period. The Q would be the order multiple, which is one pallet of an item in this case. Due to the case, we order full containers together with other items, we may order the order multiple of item i several times, depending on the demand and inventory of other items. We could therefore describe this case as an (r,nQ) policy, where we order n times quantity Q if the inventory position falls below the reorder point r.

When the inventory position  $\beta_{it}$  is expected to go below the reorder point  $w_i$ , an order  $o \in O_t$  is initialized at time t for item i. An order o should at least increase the inventory position up to the reorder point (5.1).

$$\sum_{o \in \mathcal{O}_t} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_o} \omega_{ic} \ge w_i - \beta_{it} \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}, t \in \mathcal{T}$$
(5.1)

Equation (5.1) determines the demand forecast with  $\mu_i$  per time period. Note that all generated orders are also executed, so  $\mathcal{O}'_t = \mathcal{O}_t$ .

When the required pallets  $\omega_i$ ,  $i \in \mathcal{I}_s$  are calculated, but the containers are not fully loaded yet, items with a higher stock turnover rate are preferred to be added to a container. The inventory management system checks which items are required based on the demand forecast in the near future. Algorithm 3 shows the outline of this heuristic.

Algorithm 3 Heuristic: Item quantity ordering for a supplier.

**Require:**  $s_o \in S, o \in \mathcal{O}_t, t \in \mathcal{T}, \beta$  $\triangleright$  The variable  $\omega_i$  is used without the container *c* parameter since the division over containers is done separately. Note that  $\omega_i$  is different than the reorder point  $w_i$ . 1:  $\omega \leftarrow \{\}$ ▷ Order quantity for an item in pallets 2:  $LT \leftarrow q_s + h + r$ ▷ Production time + planning horizon + review period 3: for  $i \in I_s$  do  $\triangleright$  Calculate minimum  $\omega_i$  to fulfill expected *LT* demand 4:  $\omega_i \leftarrow \sum_{LT}(\mu_i) - \beta_{it}$ 5: end for 6: for  $w \leftarrow LT + 1, \ldots, T$  do ▷ Add pallets until container limit for  $i \in \mathcal{I}_s$  do 7:  $\omega_i^* \leftarrow \sum_w (\mu_i) - \beta_{it}$ 8: end for 9: if  $\left\lceil \frac{\omega_i}{l} \right\rceil = \left\lceil \frac{\omega_i^*}{l} \right\rceil$  then ▷ number of containers is the same 10:  $\omega \leftarrow \omega^*$ 11: else ▷ Required number of containers increased 12: Break 13: end if 14: 15: end for 16: for  $j \in (\sum_i \omega_i - l)$  do ▷ Randomly pack final spaces in container  $i \leftarrow j \mod len(\mathcal{I}_s)$ 17:  $\omega_i \leftarrow \omega_i + 1$ 18: 19: end for 20: return  $O(\omega)$ 

## 5.3.2. Heuristic: Pallet division over containers

Algorithm 3 explained the procedure of how the required number of pallets  $\omega_i$  for item *i* are calculated. If the pallets fit into one container, the order consists of a single container *c*. If at least two containers are required, an additional decision emerges. With multiple containers, the ordered quantity can be divided in multiple ways to the containers  $(\omega_i \rightarrow \omega_{ic})$ . A simple heuristic is used to divide the items evenly over the containers. The overall risk of item shortage reduces with this method. If for example one container  $c \in C_o$  experiences significant delay during transportation, another container  $c' \in C_o$  containing approximately the same items moves the stock-out day backwards of all items of a certain supplier  $s_o$ . Algorithm 4 shows the heuristic.

Algorithm 4 Heuristic: Pallet division over containers.

```
Require: s_o \in S, o \in O_t, t \in T, \omega_i
 1: j \leftarrow 0
 2: for i \in \mathcal{I}_s do
           for k \in \omega_i do
 3:
                c \leftarrow j \mod \sum_i \frac{\omega_i}{l}
                                                          Result sum equals integer number of containers
 4:
                \omega_{ic} \leftarrow \omega_{ic} + 1
 5:
                j \leftarrow j + 1
 6٠
           end for
 7:
 8: end for
 9: return O(\omega_{ic})
```

## 5.4. Optimizing container scheduling (module 3)

Where the inventory management system is able to produce weekly orders  $O_t$  with containers filled with pallets, and the transportation network can generate various paths for a supplier, the actual scheduling of orders/containers can be done in the order optimizer. The purpose of the container scheduling module is to pair containers with paths at a low cost and emission. Paths making use of intermodal transportation arcs have to deal with the departure schedules of LSPs, while road-only transportation paths are more flexible. Therefore, the set of paths generated for a supplier is prepared with departure-, and arrival times. The preparation of the paths is explained in Section 5.4.1. Section 5.4.2 explains the heuristic for the actual pairing of containers and (scheduled) paths.

## 5.4.1. Path scheduling preparation

The available departure- and arrival times need to be determined for every path of a supplier. Each order has an order date, a transportation date, and a required date. The transportation date is the first departure moment for a container  $c \in C_o$  in the order o.

To calculate the arrival time, the path duration  $b_p$  is added to the departure time of a path p. For intermodal arcs, the total duration has to be fitted onto the departure time of an arc  $e \in \mathcal{E}_p$ ,  $m_e \neq road$ . Figure 5.3 shows a case where an order, using intermodal transport, needs to be scheduled on a path. Between the transport date and the required date, four departure moments  $z \in \mathcal{Z}_e$ ,  $e \in \mathcal{E}_p$  are marked for the intermodal arc. Scenarios 1 and 2 make use of the first two departure times, respectively. Scenario 3 departs too late and therefore arrives after the required date, and should not be chosen as a scheduled path.

The path scheduling process, shown in Figure 5.3, is done for every path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$  of a supplier  $s_o$ . All scheduled paths departing after the transportation date and arriving before the required date are considered. Therefore, an initial set of four paths  $\mathcal{P}_o$  may result in more *scheduled paths*  $\mathcal{P}_o^*$ , since a single path may have multiple departure times. Therefore the set of *scheduled paths*  $\mathcal{P}_o^*$  consist of the paths  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$ , but p may occur zero, one, or multiple times. Each path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o^*$  does have a unique path-departure time combination.

## 5. Solution design



Figure 5.3.: Path preparation scheduling.

## 5.4.2. Pairing containers with paths

After preparing the set of paths  $\mathcal{P}_o$  of a supplier into scheduled paths  $\mathcal{P}_o^*$  for every order  $o \in \mathcal{O}_t$ , the containers  $\mathcal{C}_o$  of order o can be paired with the scheduled paths. This module makes this decision, which we want to optimize on the objectives (1) costs, (2) emissions, and (3) time. Each scheduled path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o^*$  now has a total cost, emission, and departure- and arrival time. We want to evaluate these paths on the stochastic arc delays  $\phi_e, e \in \mathcal{E}_p, p \in \mathcal{P}_o^*$ .

To evaluate the stochastic demand and stochastic arc delay in our model, scenarios are generated to calculate the expected arrival time of a path and expected holding and lost sales costs. We generate for each scenario an observation of the path duration  $b^*$  and a total demand observation during the lead time until the order actually arrives. We include lost sales costs  $c^{ls}$  for the case the demand is higher than the current inventory position (inventory was not sufficient to fulfil demand), and holding costs  $c^{inv}$  for arriving too early. The holding costs are assigned per pallet and lost sales costs are assigned per collo. Currently, ADIL also pays a fixed amount for each pallet in inventory. Each lost sales collo is penalized evenly since every missing collo is treated the same.

With the scenarios, the time dimension is evaluated and expressed in expected costs. This leaves the model with two objectives: expected cost and emission. The expected total cost is the sum of the path cost, expected inventory cost, and expected lost sales costs. A weighted sum model is performed on the expected costs and emissions (Triantaphyllou, 2000). Every path gets a score calculated according to (5.2).

score<sub>p</sub> = weight<sup>c</sup> · c'<sub>p</sub> + weight<sup>a</sup> · a'<sub>p</sub> 
$$\forall p \in \mathcal{P}_o^{\star}, o \in \mathcal{O}_t$$
, where (5.2)  
 $E[c_n] - \min(E[c_n])$ 

$$c\prime_p = 1 - \frac{\max_{p \in \mathcal{P}_o^{\star}} (E[c]) - \min_{p \in \mathcal{P}_o^{\star}} (E[c])}{\max_{p \in \mathcal{P}_o^{\star}} (E[c]) - \min_{p \in \mathcal{P}_o^{\star}} (E[c])} \quad \forall p \in \mathcal{P}_o^{\star}, o \in \mathcal{O}_t \quad \text{, and}$$
(5.3)

$$a'_{p} = 1 - \frac{a_{p} - \min_{p \in \mathcal{P}_{o}^{\star}}(a_{p})}{\max_{p \in \mathcal{P}_{o}^{\star}}(a) - \min_{p \in \mathcal{P}_{o}^{\star}}(a)} \qquad \forall p \in \mathcal{P}_{o}^{\star}, o \in \mathcal{O}_{t} \quad \text{, so}$$
(5.4)

$$p^{\star} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{p \in \mathcal{P}_{o}^{\star}} (\operatorname{score}_{p}) \qquad \forall o \in \mathcal{O}_{t} \qquad . \tag{5.5}$$

The path with the highest score  $p^*$  is chosen as the best for the container to travel (5.5). Then the expected delivery date of this container  $c \in C_o$  is scheduled, whereafter the next container  $c' \in C_o$  is scheduled.

## 5.5. Container scheduling: Learning heuristic

The MDP formulation is a model based on sequential decision-making under uncertainty, where the model is in a state  $S_t \in S$ , takes a decision  $x_t^{\pi} \in \mathcal{X}_t^{\pi}$ , according to a policy  $\pi \in \Pi$ , after which the exogenous information  $\Omega_t$  arrives. Based on the transition function  $S^M$ , the model ends in a different state  $S_{t+1}$ . In this problem case, we use a supervised learning approach to fit a neural network that approximates the future cost. A neural network is able to learn to make the right decisions in a complex environment. We consider this problem instance as a complex environment, due to the two stochastic variables arc delay and demand, and where decisions made now have an impact at a later point in time.

The value function approximation, i.e. neural network, calculates the expected future costs of a post-decision state. The neural network takes the post-decision state  $S_t^x$  as the input vector and calculates the value function approximation  $\bar{V}_t^x(S_t^x)$  according to the neural network, see Figure 5.4. The post-decision state is the state the model ends up in directly after a decision is taken. As mentioned in Section 4.3, the state  $S_t$  consists of the physical inventory  $\alpha_{it}$  and the in-transit inventory  $\beta_{its}^*$ .

The state space contains all physical- and in-transit inventories for all items  $\mathcal{I}$ . If we include all items of all suppliers, the entire state space would be too large as input for such a neural network. Besides, each supplier has different characteristics and items have different demand distributions. Since every order  $o \in \mathcal{O}$  is independent and connected to one supplier  $s \in S$ , we want to train a neural network for one supplier only. This consequently also reduces the state space. For example, the given state space consists of 5 different items with a physical inventory, and an in-transit inventory with max s = 50. This lead to the input vector of the state  $S_t$  with  $5 + 5 \cdot 50 = 255$  nodes, where the first 5 nodes represent the physical inventories, and the other 250 nodes represent the in-transit inventory of item *i* with release days *s*.

#### 5. Solution design



Figure 5.4.: VFA neural network example with the post-decision state as the input.

To further generalize the state space, we sum inventories with release days *s* to weeks, so we reduce the state space of  $\beta_{its}^{\star}$  with a factor 7. Now the parameter *s* represents the number of weeks until the in-transit inventory is expected to arrive.

#### **Decision space**

The VFA can evaluate the expected future cost of a post-decision state. We want to evaluate all post-decision state values  $\overline{V}_t(S_t^x)$  of each post-decision state  $S_t^x$  we may end up in after taking decision  $x_t \in \mathcal{X}_t$ . The decision set  $\mathcal{X}_t$  is the set of scheduled paths  $\mathcal{P}'_o$ , after which we choose one path for a container. The post-decision state with the minimal decision cost summed with the expected future costs is chosen as the best decision (5.6), where the cost function is given by (4.16).

$$x_t^{\pi} = \arg\min_{x_t \in \mathcal{X}_t} (C_t(x_t^{\pi}) + \overline{V}_t(S_t^x))$$
(5.6)

#### Training

Since we use supervised learning, the network needs to be trained with a large dataset, that consists of the rewards earned in a post-decision state. We use the order optimizer module to make the decision in a given state and save the corresponding reward. Afterwards, we train the neural network on this large dataset. To evaluate the performance of the neural network, we perform a simulation, where the neural network determines the decision.

## 5.6. Conclusion

The problem formulation is solved using multiple heuristics. The transportation network is utilized to create optimal paths using Dijkstra's algorithm, regarding costs, time, or emission. A customised *k*-shortest path algorithm creates a subset of *k*-optimal paths for each supplier  $s \in S$ . When executing an order *o*, each container  $c \in C_o$  has to be executed on a path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$ .

The inventory management system creates an order for a supplier s when the inventory position of item i of supplier s falls below the reorder point. The packing of a container

#### 5. Solution design

is done according to a heuristic where items with a higher stock turnover rate have a higher priority.

The order optimizer schedules paths on departure times  $Z_e$  of arcs  $e \in \mathcal{E}$  and evaluates possible scenarios of arc delays and demand observations. The path with the best score, related to a weighted scoring method on expected cost and emission, is chosen as the best path. The performance of the model is measured on the total emissions and costs, related to executing paths, holding inventory, and having lost sales.

For the learning heuristic, we use a supervised learning approach, where the expected future cost of a post-decision state is calculated with a value function approximation that uses a neural network. The optimal decision is chosen as the decision with the lowest direct costs, plus the expected future cost of the post-decision state. The neural network will be fitted for a single supplier since the ordering process for each supplier is independent. We train the neural network on a large dataset, generated by the order optimizer heuristic.

This chapter elaborates on the experimental setup of the three modules mentioned in the solution design. First, Section 6.1 introduces the general settings of the problem formulation. Then, Section 6.2 shows the construction of the transportation network nodes and arcs. Section 6.3 explains the settings used in the inventory management system. Section 6.4 describes the settings used when combining containers with paths in the order optimizer module. Section 6.5 shows the experimental settings related to the learning heuristic approach. Section 6.6 explains how the performance of the model is evaluated. Section 6.7 shows the setup of experiments for both the order optimizer and learning heuristic. Finally, Section 6.8 concludes this chapter by elaborating on the conclusions of the experimental settings.

## 6.1. General settings

The set of nodes  $\mathcal{V}$  and arcs  $\mathcal{E}$  can be found in Table A.1 and Table A.2 in appendix A, respectively. The parameters such as distance and duration of arcs can also be found in appendix A. The list of items and suppliers, including attributes of these sets are not presented in this report, due to confidentiality.

Table 6.1 shows the size of the sets used in the optimization model. The establishment of the set of items, for example, is elaborated on in this chapter. The sets of orders O, containers C, paths P, and arc departure times Z are generated by the model, and therefore not specified in this chapter.

Table 6.1.: Model sets.				
Set	ID	Count	Description	
Items	$i \in \mathcal{I}$	944	items	
Suppliers	$s\in\mathcal{S}$	177	suppliers	
Nodes	$v\in \mathcal{V}$	284	nodes, of which 1 warehouse, 106 transfer	
			nodes, and 177 suppliers	
Arcs	$e\in \mathcal{E}$	181	arcs (excluding arcs connecting suppliers).	
Modes	$m\in\mathcal{M}$	4	shipment methods,	
			$\mathcal{M} = \{road, rail, iww, sea\}.$	
Time	$t\in\mathcal{T}$	350	days (50 weeks)	
horizon				

Table 6.2 shows the parameter settings of the optimization model. The transportation velocity of road transportation is significantly higher than intermodal transport but has a 3 to 4 times higher rate of  $CO_2$  emission. The review period *r* is set to 7 days, and the

planning horizon *h* to 14 days. Note that the production time  $q_s$  is supplier dependant, and the order multiple is item dependent. For every path generation objective, k = 3 paths are generated, which results in a maximum of 9 paths per supplier. For a detailed explanation of the choice of k = 3, see Appendix B. Also, we assumed that the holding cost is significantly lower with €0.19 euro per pallet per day than the lost sales cost of €5.00 for every collo.

Parameter	ID	Value	Unit of measurement
Mode velocity <sup>1</sup>	f <sub>sea</sub>	20	km/h
	f <sub>rail</sub>	25	km/h
	f <sub>road</sub>	60	km/h
	f <sub>iww</sub>	11	km/h
Mode emissions <sup>2</sup>	8sea	0.160	kg CO <sub>2</sub> per container per km
	grail	0.170	kg CO <sub>2</sub> per container per km
	groad	0.750	kg CO₂ per container per km
	8iww	0.260	kg CO₂ per container per km
Mode cost <sup>3</sup>	C <sup>sea</sup>	€ 0.95	euro per container per km
	c <sup>rail</sup>	€ 1.27	euro per container per km
	<i>c<sup>road</sup></i>	€ 1.32	euro per container per km
	C <sup>iww</sup>	€ o.66	euro per container per km
Transfer time	п	2	hours
Production time	$q_s$	[7,63]	days [min, max]
Review period	r	7	days
Planning horizon	h	14	days
Order multiple	u <sub>i</sub>	[20, 1296]	collo per pallet [min, max]
Capacity	1	33	(euro)pallets per 45ft container
Optimal paths	k	3	k-optimal paths per objective
Scenarios	-	1,000	number of scenarios generated per
			path
Holding cost	$C_i^{inv}$	€ 0.19	euro per pallet per day
Lost sales cost	$c_i^{ls}$	€ 5.00	euro per collo

Table 6.2.: Model parameter settings.

## 6.2. Transportation network (module 1)

This section defines the transportation network, which is used to create paths. First, the road transportation network is defined by the TEN-T core network, which is further elaborated in Section 6.2.1. Afterwards, the intermodal network is created by copying a set of intermodal transportation paths from RouteScanner.com. This is further elaborated in Section 6.2.2. Finally, Section 6.2.3 elaborates on the set of warehouses and suppliers used in the transportation network.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mode velocity determined according to Macharis et al. (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Mode emissions determined according to Smart Freight Centre (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Fictive cost values are assumed.

## 6.2.1. Road transport

Containers are continuously shipped through a large transportation network to transport goods inside and outside Europe. European countries try to optimize their infrastructure to move goods efficiently. The European Commission has started TEN-T projects in the last two decades to identify and improve the main corridors for transporting freight and passengers within EU countries (European Commission, 2020). These corridors include road-, rail-, inland waterways-, and sea shipping. An overview of the main corridors in the EU can be found in Figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1.: TEN-T Core Network Corridors. Each colour represents one of the nine corridors. While all corridors include road transportation, most corridors also include rail transportation.

The TEN-T core network can be used as the basis of the transportation network *G* for shipping by road. The transportation network, modelled as a directed graph *G* is defined with nodes  $\mathcal{V}$  and arcs  $\mathcal{E}$ . Therefore, the set of nodes  $\mathcal{V}$  of graph *G* is set to the nodes/cities of the TEN-T core network. The set of arcs  $\mathcal{E}$  now consists of the set of arcs by road  $\mathcal{E}^{road}$  of the TEN-T core network. The graph of road transportation arcs is shown in Figure 6.2.

The distances of the arcs are calculated by using the OpenStreetMap API<sup>4</sup> on the latitude and longitude coordinates of the nodes  $\mathcal{V}$  to get actual distances  $d_e$  of arc  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ . The duration  $b_e$  is based on the model velocity  $f_m$  of the transportation mode  $m \in \mathcal{M}$ .

## 6.2.2. Intermodal transport

Section 6.2.1 defined the TEN-T core network as a directed graph *G* that consists of the cities  $\mathcal{V}$  and arcs  $\mathcal{E}$ . Currently, only the road transportation arcs  $\mathcal{E}^{road}$  have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See http://project-osrm.org/docs/v5.5.1/api/#nearest-service



Figure 6.2.: TEN-T core network in the transportation model. This figure shows all road transportation arcs, all transfer points, and the ADIL warehouse located in the Netherlands.

defined. In this section, intermodal arcs are created for graph *G*. For the transportation network, a predefined set of intermodal arcs in Europe are used. These arcs have been chosen based on schedules of RouteScanner<sup>5</sup>. RouteScanner has been founded by the Port of Rotterdam to combine intermodal schedules of LSPs and provide door-to-door connections for containers on request (RouteScanner, 2022). The paths that RouteScanner provides are focused on intermodal shipping and choose the most  $CO_2$  neutral option. The emission of the connections of RouteScanner is provided and compared with road-only transportation. The intermodal arcs can be based on rail-, inland waterway-, or sea shipping. Therefore, the set of arcs is extended with the intermodal arcs and becomes  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{road} \cup \mathcal{E}^{rail} \cup \mathcal{E}^{iww} \cup \mathcal{E}^{sea}$ .

We select for every country about 2-4 routes (from RouteScanner) that depart in this country, to Rotterdam. Preferably, the departure location of different routes should be spread across the country and be close to the locations of ADIL's suppliers. The routes are chosen based on popular routes, i.e., the routes should have multiple providers that offer this route. Besides, all routes include no transfers.

For most European countries in the TEN-T core network, several intermodal paths have been defined for major cities. All of these paths lead to Rotterdam, since Rotterdam is one of the largest ports in Europe, and thus has many intermodal routes that meet here. Besides, it is relatively close to the warehouses of ADIL. Figure 6.3 shows the selection of intermodal routes used from RouteScanner. Most eastern- and central European countries make use of rail transportation, and countries such as Spain, Italy, and France have one or more routes by sea. The intermodal transportation network does not include

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See https://www.routescanner.com/

inland waterway arcs. Inland waterway transport is not yet well developed in intermodal transport, and RouteScanner does not provide a wide selection of inland waterway arcs. Figure 6.4 shows the origins of the shipments in a year of ADIL. Note that the departure locations of the intermodal network in Figure 6.3 are partially based on the shipment origin locations.



Figure 6.3.: The set of intermodal arcs (maritime, rail, and inland waterways) in the transportation network.

Intermodal arcs are based on scheduled departure times  $Z_e$  of LSPs and cannot be used on request, unlike arcs by road. In the simulation, a random moment of time during a week is generated for every arc. This moment of time is the same for every week and is the departure moment of the arc *e*. The duration  $b_e$  and emissions  $a_e$  of an intermodal arc are based on the numbers of RouteScanner. RouteScanner makes use of the GLEC framework for calculating CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in transportation. The distance  $d_e$  of an intermodal arc for rail- and inland waterways shipping is estimated by the rail calculator of the European Commission<sup>6</sup> and by the sea route & distance calculator of Ports.com<sup>7</sup>.

#### 6.2.3. Warehouses and suppliers

Graph *G* now contains all road-transportation arcs, together with a subset of intermodal arcs,  $\mathcal{E}$  and cities  $\mathcal{V}$  of the TEN-T Core Network. The next step is to add the warehouses of ADIL and the suppliers to the network.

ADIL has multiple warehouses in the Netherlands but prioritises a single warehouse. This warehouse stores the largest part of ADIL's goods. For simplicity, only this warehouse is considered in the optimization model and will represent the destination of all paths created. The warehouse is connected to the five closest cities in the network with road transportation arcs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>See Rail calculator

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>See http://ports.com/sea-route/



longitude

Figure 6.4.: Origins of the European shipments in 2021 of ADIL.

The suppliers of ADIL are also added to the transportation network. Based on the latitude and longitude coordinates, the suppliers S are located in the network. When a path is generated for a supplier s, the supplier is added to the set of nodes V and is connected to the three closest nodes via road transportation with arcs  $\mathcal{E}_s^*$ . The distance  $d_e, e \in \mathcal{E}^*$  of an added road transportation arc is approximated with the great circle distance, which calculates the distance between two points on a sphere. This distance  $d_e$  is multiplied by a factor 1.3 to get a better approximation of the actual distance via road. When another supplier  $s' \neq s$  is considered, the previous supplier s and connecting arcs  $\mathcal{E}_s^*$ , are removed from the graph G.

## 6.3. Inventory management system (module 2)

The set of suppliers S is filtered on the supplier's location since we only consider suppliers in Europe. The set of items I is filtered on demand characteristics, which means the item should have historical demand in 2022. Finally, items without a known supplier and the other way around, are also excluded from the set of items.

Parameters such as the order multiple  $u_i$  are set to the number of collo of item i that fit on one euro pallet. The mean demand  $\mu_i$  and demand standard deviation  $\sigma_i$  of item i is calculated on historical data of the first half of 2022, which is expressed in weekly figures, for each item  $i \in \mathcal{I}$ .

One of the stochastic parameters of the model is the demand  $\lambda_{it}$ , which is simulated according to the negative binomial distribution with parameter  $r_i$  and  $p_i$  (6.1, 6.2, 6.3) (Axsäter, 2015). This requires the mean demand  $\mu_i$ , and standard deviation  $\sigma_i$  of each item  $i \in \mathcal{I}$ . The demand is simulated on the weekly basis, which means every Monday

of the week a demand sample is generated, t = 0, 7, 14, ... The demand forecast for horizon *h* is calculated with the expected demand  $\mu_i$ , so the expected demand for *h* weeks is  $\sum_h \mu_i$ .

$$\lambda_{it} \sim NB(r_i, p_i) \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}, t \in \mathcal{T}$$
(6.1)

$$p_i = 1 - \frac{\mu_i}{\sigma_i^2} \qquad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$
(6.2)

$$r_i = \mu \frac{(1-p_i)}{p} \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$
(6.3)

The reorder point  $w_i$  is determined such that it should cover 98% of the demand distribution during the production lead time, order horizon, and review period. To calculate the 98<sub>th</sub> percentile, the demand distribution with a production lead time of, e.g., 3 weeks, equals the sum of 3 times the demand distribution. Since the negative binomial distribution is a sequence of Geometric distributions, (6.5) shows how this can be reduced to  $NB(3r_i, p_i)$ . Equation (6.6) shows how the reorder point is calculated of the cumulative density function F(r, p). We take the 98%<sub>th</sub> percentile of the distribution, which means we are 98% certain that the distribution is less than the reorder point.

$$Let X_i \sim Geometric(p), X \sim NB(r, p) \quad , then$$
(6.4)

$$\sum_{1}^{3} X = \sum_{1}^{3} (X_1 + \ldots + X_r) = X_1 + \ldots + X_{3r} = NB(3r, p)$$
(6.5)

$$w_i = \int_0^{0.98} F(r, p)$$
(6.6)

## 6.4. Order optimizer (module 3)

As mentioned in Section 4.3, all three curses of dimensionality apply to our case, which means we cannot solve the MDP exactly. For this reason, we use a heuristic approach with machine learning, since we try to learn to make better decisions.

The container scheduler uses the stochastic parameter arc delay  $\phi_e$  to evaluate scenarios of the total path duration. The arc delay will be simulated according to the exponential distribution, so  $\phi_e \sim Exp$ . We use the assumption that an arc with a high duration also experiences a larger expected average delay, than arcs with a lower duration. For this reason, the arc delay is based on the planned arc duration  $b_e$ . The arc delay is calculated according to (6.7). Note how the expected duration of an arc  $\hat{b}_e$  can be reduced to  $(1 + j_m)b_e$ , according to (6.8). We can calculate the expected value of the exponential distribution, which is equal to  $1/\lambda$ .

$$\phi_e \sim Exp\left(j_m \frac{1}{b_e}\right)$$
, where  $m = e_m \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$  (6.7)

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{b_e} &= E\left[b_e + \phi_e\right] = E\left[b_e + Exp\left(j_m\frac{1}{b_e}\right)\right] \\ &= b_e + E\left[Exp\left(j_m\frac{1}{b_e}\right)\right] = b_e + j_m E\left[Exp\left(\frac{1}{b_e}\right)\right] \qquad \forall e \in \mathcal{E} \end{aligned} (6.8) \\ &= b_e + j_m * \frac{1}{\frac{1}{b_e}} = b_e + j_m b_e = (1 + j_m)b_e \end{aligned}$$

Equation (6.7) shows an additional factor  $j_m$ , which is determined per transportation method. For example, intermodal transport might be more vulnerable to delay, so we might decide to set  $j_{maritime} > j_{road}$ . Table 6.3 shows the values for  $j_m$  during the simulation. We chose to make road transportation the most reliable with an average delay of 0.2 times the initial duration, and sea transportation the least reliable with an average delay of 0.4 times the initial duration. The general assumption is  $j_{road} < j_{rail}, j_{iww} < j_{sea}$ 

Transportation modeAverage delay factor  $j_m$ Sea (maritime)0.4Rail0.3Road0.2

0.3

Table 6.3.: Average delay factor of transportation modes.

## 6.5. Container scheduling: Learning heuristic

Inland waterways

The learning heuristic of the container scheduler makes use of a supervised learning approach, which heuristically tries to approximate the future costs of the post-decision state. The value function approximation (VFA) uses a neural network to approximate these values. The neural network consists of 5 layers, which are the input layer, three hidden layers, and the output layer. The input layer consists of the post-decision state  $S_t^x$ , and the output layer consists of a single node that represents the expected future cost  $\overline{V}_t(S_t^x)$  of the post-decision node. There are three hidden layers, each consisting of 16 hidden nodes. Each node of the hidden layer is activated with the RELU activation function. The output layer/node uses a sigmoid activation function. The learning rate for the neural network is set to 0.05, which means we update the neural network with 5% of the observed values.

## 6.6. Model performance evaluation

The performance of the problem formulation is evaluated on three types of cost: (1) path execution costs, (2) holding costs, and (3) lost sales costs. The path execution costs are calculated when a path  $p \in \mathcal{P}_o$  is chosen for a container  $c \in C_o$ . The holding-and lost sales costs are calculated on the actual inventory  $\alpha_{it}$  for  $\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, t \in \mathcal{T}$ . Thus, while the formulation works with the inventory position, the performance of measured on the actual inventory (see Figure 6.5).

The objective is to minimize the total costs (6.9) and emissions (6.10). The total costs can be calculated by (6.9). The total costs exist of path costs  $c_p$  for all executed paths  $\mathcal{P}'$ , and the holding costs per pallet  $c_i^{inv}$  and the lost sales cost  $c_i^{ls}$  per collo, summed over the whole time horizon  $\mathcal{T}$  and items  $\mathcal{I}$ . Equation 6.9 shows the objective of problem formulation.



Figure 6.5.: Performance measurement of the model.

$$\min \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}'} c_p + \sum_{it} (c_i^{inv} \frac{\alpha_{it}}{u_i} + c_i^{ls} \xi_{it})$$

$$\min \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}'} a_p \qquad , \text{ where } a_p = \sum_{e \in \mathcal{E}_p} a_e \qquad (6.10)$$

## 6.7. Experiment setup

This section elaborates on the experiment setup for the results in Chapter 7. First, Section 6.7.1 shows the experiments for the order optimizer heuristic. Then, Section 6.7.2 elaborates on the experiments of the learning heuristic.

#### 6.7.1. Order optimizer

Table 6.4 shows the parameters that are going to be evaluated with different settings. In this case, we have three parameters which are the cost weight, the emission weight, and the arc delay scenarios. The first experiment has a full focus on costs during normal transport delay. During each following experiment, the focus will shift with 10% towards an emission focus. Eventually, we do the same experiments, but now with a 200% and

300% delay scenario. Table 6.5 shows the set of experiments, including a Road Only experiment to compare costs and emissions. This results in a total of 36 experiments.

Parameter	Experiment range	Explanation
weight <sup>c</sup>	[1.00, 0.90, 0.80, , .01]	Cost weight for evaluating paths.
weight <sup>a</sup>	$1 - weight^c$	Emission weight for evaluating paths.
$j_m$	[100%, 200%, 300%]	Arc delay factor.

Table 6.4.: 9	Set of exp	perimental	parameters.
•			1

#	Experiment	Parameter	Explanation
1	Road Only	-	Use road transportation only, i.e., the fastest path.
2 - 12	Pareto frontier	weight <sup>c</sup> , weight <sup>a</sup>	Evaluate the total costs and emis- sions with different focuses.
13	Road Only, 200% delay	200% j <sub>m</sub>	Use road transportation only, i.e., the fastest path with 200% delay.
14 - 24	Pareto frontier, 200% delay	weight <sup>c</sup> , weight <sup>a</sup> , 200% $j_m$	Evaluate the total costs and emis- sions with different focuses with 200% delay.
25	Road Only, 300% delay	300% j <sub>m</sub>	Use road transportation only, i.e., the fastest path with 300% delay.
26 - 36	Pareto frontier, 300% delay	weight <sup>c</sup> , weight <sup>a</sup> , $300\% j_m$	Evaluate the total costs and emis- sions with different focuses with 300% delay.

## Table 6.5.: Set of experiments to evaluate.

All experiments run for a length of 70 weeks, of which 20 weeks is the warm-up period. The demand is equal in each experiment, i.e., generated with common random numbers. Each experiment has four replications, with a 10% significance factor based on the sequential procedure of Law (2015). See Appendix C for a more elaborate explanation of the warm-up period and the number of replications.

## 6.7.2. Learning heuristic

This section elaborates on the results of the learning strategy. We will run the learning strategy for two instances since we run the learning strategy only for a single supplier. Table 6.6 shows the two instances, with their country of origin, number of items, and production days. These two instances were selected to achieve results from two perspectives: (1) Supplier 1 with a few items, and a relatively low production lead time, and (2) Supplier 2 with more items and a relatively high production lead time.

The neural network is trained on a large dataset, generated by the order optimizer heuristic. We train the neural network on the data set and perform simulations. A simulation does use the neural network for calculating the best decision.

Table 6.6.: Supplier instances for the learning strategy.			
Instance	Country	Number of items	Production lead time
Supplier 1	France	2	21 days
Supplier 2	Spain	4	49 days

We perform all experiments with a different  $CO_2$  cost factor, which are  $\{0.0, 0.5, 1.0\}$ . This means that a model is trained with a full cost focus, and two models are trained with an increasing cost for emissions. First, we demonstrate the learning process of an experiment with the  $CO_2$  cost factor = 0, so a full cost focus experiment. Figure 6.6 shows the training process of this experiment. We use 10 replications and a simulation period of 200 weeks (excluding the warm-up period) to increase the accuracy since we only observe a single supplier. After learning about 500,000 decisions, the model shows a decrease in the total cost and seems to give consistent results after. Although the decrease in total costs is only approximately  $\notin$ 2,000 (-2.9%), we assume the model is sufficiently trained after about 500,000 iterations. Therefore, all other experiments are trained with 500,000 iterations.



Figure 6.6.: Training process of Supplier 1 with 100% cost focus.

## 6.8. Conclusion

The TEN-T project has been used as the basis for creating the transportation network in Europe. The core network, consisting of cities and corridors, is used to define the road transportation arcs. The intermodal arcs are based on schedules of RouteScanner, which provides door-to-door connections, mainly consisting of intermodal transportation methods. The intermodal transportation arc provide often arcs with low emission with

a high duration and road transportation the other way around. While intermodal arcs have to comply with departure times, road transportation arcs are flexible and can be requested on demand.

The stochastic demand of items is simulated according to a negative binomial distribution, and a random observation is generated each Monday of the week. The arc delay variable is simulated according to an exponential distribution. The exponential distribution is based on the initial distribution of the arc.

The VFA of the post-decision state is approximated with a neural network. The input of the neural network equals the physical- and in-transit inventory, grouped by week. The three hidden layers each consist of 16 nodes.

We evaluated three experimental parameters, which are the cost weight, emission weight, and arc delay factor. We calculated Pareto optimal solutions by evaluating a 100%, 90%, 80%, ..., 10%, 1% cost focus, together with a Road Only experiment, which results in 12 experiments. Each set of experiments is performed with a 100%, 200%, and 300% arc delay factor, which results in a total of 36 experiments. For the learning heuristic, we evaluate different  $CO_2$  cost values and compare the performance with the simple heuristic and order optimizer.

## 7. Results

Chapter 5 presents the heuristics and solution approaches that solve the problem formulation from Chapter 4. Chapter 6 provides the general settings of the solution approach. This chapter presents the experimental results. All experiments are programmed with Python. Note that a single simulation may require about 1 hour to run on a single laptop. For this reason, all simulations have been calculated in parallel on a server with 72 cores.

First, Section 7.1 validates the model performance by comparing it with a simple heuristic. Section 7.2 analyses the experimental results by a Pareto-graph. Section 7.3 elaborates on the total emissions per country for each experiment. Section 7.4 shows the performance of the learning strategy. Section 7.5 shows the sensitivity analysis of the cost parameters in the optimization model. Finally, Section 7.6 concludes this chapter by presenting the conclusions of the results.

## 7.1. Model validation

First, the model is validated by comparing the results with a simple heuristic. This simple heuristic uses the same model, but does not include expected holding-, and lost sales cost when evaluating paths. It only uses the direct path costs and emissions as evaluation parameters, which makes it a myopic policy. Figure 7.1 shows the 12 experiments defined in Table 6.5, where the blue line shows the performance of the order optimizer module and the orange line shows the performance of the simple heuristic.



Figure 7.1.: Pareto frontier of the experiments with 100% delay factor is the simple heuristic and order optimizer.

Figure 7.1 shows that both performances are relatively close to each other. Where the simple heuristic performs slightly better with a higher cost weight, the order optimizer performs slightly better with a higher focus on emission. The order optimizer is able to achieve a lower total cost with a 90% or higher cost focus. In both cases, the Road Only experiment performs worse than the Pareto frontier. The Road Only experiments, demonstrated with the squares in Figure 7.1, have the same total costs and emissions and perform worse than 80%, 90%, and 100% cost focus experiments. The Road Only experiment is dominated by all other experiments on total emission.

The little difference between the performance of the simple heuristic and the order optimizer module may be explained due to the expected cost calculation of the order optimizer module. The expected cost calculation is a heuristic that tries to calculate the expected costs for over 10 or more days, depending on the lead time. During these 10+ days, previously placed orders may be late or demand might be high, causing lost sales which change the inventory position. Summarizing, it may be quite difficult to calculate the expected costs, due to the many different events that may happen after taking a decision. For this reason, the order optimizer module may be close to the performance of the simple heuristic, or even slightly worse.

## 7.2. Pareto frontier

This section elaborates on the results of the experiments defined in Table 6.5. In total 36 experiments have been performed, each with 4 replications. First, we elaborate on the total cost and emission in a Pareto graph of all 36 experiments. Figure 7.2 shows the Pareto frontier of the 36 experiments. The dark blue line shows the standard case with the standard delay distribution. This line shows that the order optimizer module with a 100% delay distribution performs better than the other two cases with a 200%- and 300% delay distribution, in total costs and emissions.



Figure 7.2.: Pareto frontier 36 experiments, based on a cost-emission scale.

With a full emission focus, all three cases end up with approximately 2,750 tons of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and a slightly higher cost for the cases with a higher delay distribution. If we

look at the standard case, we have about  $\notin$ 4.8 million kg of CO<sub>2</sub> and about  $\notin$ 12.2 million euro as the total cost. We can reduce the total emission by 43% to a level of 2.75 million kg, by increasing the total costs by approximately 10% to a level of  $\notin$ 13.5 million in the case of a 40% cost focus. Table 7.1 shows each experiment the comparison in terms of total costs and emissions, for all three transport delay cases.

Figure 7.3 shows the total costs split per cost category. Most costs (about 80-85%) are path costs, which are for executing containers on paths. The holding costs are the majority of the other costs, with little costs in lost sales. The little cost in lost sales is likely due to the high reorder point that covers 98% of the demand distribution.



Figure 7.3.: Cost distribution of the experiments in the base case.

As the focus shifts towards a more emission focus, the total costs gradually go up. These costs are primarily present in the path costs that also gradually go up since more sustainable paths sometimes are more expensive and may require some detour. Also, the lost sales costs are slightly increasing, due to taking more risk in transport lead times of intermodal paths. This may be solved for example by increasing the reorder point. The Road Only experiment shows that the total cost is close to the 100% cost focus experiment.

Figure 7.4 shows the number of containers transported per transport method. In total, all experiments ship about 6,600 containers. In the Road Only experiment, all containers are transported via unimodal road. As the emission focus increases up to 50%, more containers are transported via intermodal rail paths. About 1,000 containers remain using unimodal road since the suppliers of these containers are likely to be nearby to the Netherlands. Therefore, these containers are not viable for intermodal transport.

## 7. Results

Experiment	Total costs	Chg	Emissions	Chg
1	<b>(*€1,000</b> )	(%)	(*1,000 kg)	(%)
Base case (100% of ori	ginal delay distribu	ition)		
Road only	€ 1 <b>2,</b> 401	+ 1.0%	5,937	+ 23.5%
100% Cost	€ 12,273		4,808	
90% Cost	€ 12,478	+ 1.7%	4,191	- 12.8%
80% Cost	€ 12,728	+ 3.7%	3,586	- 25.4%
70% Cost	€ 12,857	+ 4.8%	3,317	- 31.0%
60% Cost	€ 12,981	+ 5.8%	3,179	- 33.9%
50% Cost	€ 13,285	+ 8.3%	2,926	- 39.1%
40% Cost	€ 13,461	+9.7%	2,808	- 41.6%
30% Cost	€ 13,492	+ 9.9%	2,792	- 41.9%
20% Cost	€ 13,648	+ 11.2%	2,760	- 42.6%
10% Cost	€ 13,665	+ 11.3%	2,757	- 42.7%
1% Cost	€ 13,715	+ 11.8%	2,753	- 42.7%
Case: 200% of original	delay distribution			·
Road only	€ 12,473	+ 0.8%	5,947	+ 17.3%
100% Cost	€ 12,380		5,068	
90% Cost	€ 12,625	+ 2.0%	4,215	- 16.8%
80% Cost	€ 12,898	+ 4.2%	3,532	- 30.3%
70% Cost	€ 13,018	+ 5.2%	3,352	- 33.9%
60% Cost	€ 13,156	+ 6.3%	3,230	- 36.3%
50% Cost	€ 13,502	+ 9.1%	2,968	- 41.4%
40% Cost	€13,644	+ 10.2%	2,867	- 43.4%
30% Cost	€13,700	+ 10.7%	2,799	- 44.8%
20% Cost	€ 13,864	+ 12.0%	2,768	- 45.4%
10% Cost	€ 13,862	+ 12.0%	2,761	- 45.5%
1% Cost	€ 13,907	+ 12.3%	2,758	- 45.6%
Case: 300% of original	delay distribution		'	
Road only	€ 12,473	+ 0.8%	5,950	+ 20.7%
100% Cost	€ 12,380		4,930	
90% Cost	€ 12,625	+ 2.0%	4,475	- 9.2%
80% Cost	€ 12,898	+ 4.2%	3,930	- 20.3%
70% Cost	€ 13,018	+ 5.2%	3,318	- 32.7%
60% Cost	€ 13,156	+ 6.3%	3,112	- 36.9%
50% Cost	€ 13,502	+ 9.1%	2,963	- 39.9%
40% Cost	€13,644	+ 10.2%	2,829	- 42.6%
30% Cost	€ 13,700	+ 10.7%	2,811	- 43.0%
20% Cost	€13,864	+ 12.0%	2,772	- 43.8%
10% Cost	€ 13,862	+ 12.0%	2,765	- 43.9%
1% Cost	€ 13,907	+ 12.3%	2,761	- 44.0%

Table 7.1.: Experiment values comparison of costs and emissions. The change percentage is calculated by comparing it with the 100% cost focus experiment.

#### 7. Results





As the emission focus gets above 50%, some intermodal rail transportation is replaced by maritime transportation, with 300 containers being shipped via maritime with a 99% emission focus.

Figure 7.5 shows the same transport method categories as Figure 7.4, but now shows the total emission related to the executed paths in the experiments. For example, the Road Only experiment shows a high total emission, since road transportation has a larger emission factor per unit of distance. As the focus shifts towards an emission focus, the total  $CO_2$  emissions go down to about 2.75 million kg.



Figure 7.5.: Total emission per experiment split per main transport method.

With an emission focus of 50% or higher, almost all emissions are caused by intermodal rail transportation. Note that intermodal rail transportation includes the emission from

road transportation travelling from the supplier to the departure railway station, and from the arrival railway station to the warehouse. The small portion of unimodal road transportation in the 50% emission focus or higher is not relevant to explore for intermodal transport, since these suppliers are likely to be close to the warehouse.

Finally, Figure 7.6 shows the same data as Figure 7.5, but an extra split in intermodal transport. The shaded area in rail transportation and maritime is the emission caused by road transportation for driving towards- and from a railway station. This shows that about 60% of the intermodal rail transportation emission is caused by road transportation, and only about 40% of the emissions is actually from rail transportation. In the 99% emission focus experiment, still, approximately 65% of the total emissions are polluted by road transportation but are not reducible to a lower minimum.



Figure 7.6.: Total emission per experiment split per single transport mode.

## 7.3. Country analysis

In this section, the results related to the total emissions split per country are elaborated. Figure 7.7 shows the total emissions per country for the experiments: Road Only, 100%, 80%, ..., 20%, 1% cost focus. The countries Italy and Spain are the two countries with the most emissions. That is likely due to the high volume done with suppliers in these countries, together with the large distance to the warehouse in the Netherlands. Portugal is the third country with the most emissions, also due to the large distance to the warehouse. Countries such as Belgium, Germany, and the Netherlands do not have a lot of emissions, due to the short distance to the warehouse.

The experiments with a higher emission focus (e.g., lower cost focus) show a lower total emission. Spain is able to reduce the total emissions by close to 60% with the 60% or lower cost focus experiment. The total emissions in Italy also dropped significantly with a higher emission focus, compared to the Road Only or 100% cost focus experiment.

#### 7. Results



Figure 7.7.: Total emissions per country per experiment.

Figure 7.8 shows the reduction in total emissions for each country, compared to the Road Only experiment. In these cases, Portugal and Italy achieved the most reduced emissions. For the suppliers in Belgium, it did not make a difference what experiment was performed, a single path for each supplier was the most economic, and sustainable option according to the optimization model. Summarizing, for the southern countries in Europe, an emission reduction of 60% to 70% is possible with a large impact on the total emissions, and for the less distant countries in Europe, an average reduction of 30% is achievable with less impact on the total emissions.



Figure 7.8.: Emission reduction per country, compared to the Road Only experiment.

## 7.4. Order optimizer module: Learning heuristic

Figure 7.9 shows the performance for the Supplier 1 instance of the three strategies, which are the simple heuristic, order optimizer, and the learning strategy. All experiments are performed for the three different  $CO_2$  cost values. The blue icons with a full cost focus perform relatively well on the total cost. The simple heuristic outperforms both solutions in terms of costs, whereafter the learning strategy and order optimizer follow, respectively. Note that the cost differences are relatively small with all solutions being in a range between €69,000 and €71,000.



Supplier 1: Comparison of heuristics with different CO2 cost values

Figure 7.9.: Comparison of different strategies in terms of costs and emissions of the Supplier 1 instance.

The simple heuristic solutions tend to be sensitive to extreme results because all simple heuristic solutions eighter have high costs and low emissions, or have low costs and high emissions. For example, the order optimizer with a  $CO_2$  cost value > 0 is close to the best solutions found in terms of a cost/emission trade-off. The learning heuristic is less sensitive to extreme results than the simple heuristic. In this case, the learning heuristic performs similarly/better with a  $CO_2$  cost value of 0 or 0.5, but performs worse with a cost value of 1, compared to the simple heuristic and order optimizer.

Figure 7.10 shows the same comparison as Figure 7.9, but now for the Supplier 2 instance. The simple heuristic and order optimizer seems to achieve about the same solutions, except for the  $CO_2 \text{ cost} = 0.5$ . The solutions do seem to follow a clear pattern that shows an increasing cost and decreasing emission when the  $CO_2$  cost value increases. The learning heuristic solutions with a  $CO_2$  cost value of 0 and 1 tend to be on the Pareto frontier line. However, these solutions do deviate a lot from the order optimizer and simple heuristic solutions. This might conclude that the learning heuristic leads to different results (not particularly better) than the simple heuristic and order optimizer, which often have similar performance.

#### 7. Results



Supplier 2: Comparison of heuristics with different CO2 cost values

Figure 7.10.: Comparison of different strategies in terms of costs and emissions of the Supplier 2 instance.

## 7.5. Sensitivity analysis

Table 7.2 shows the parameters for the sensitivity analysis. First, an analysis is performed on an increased risk of transportation delay, with 200% and 300% of the original delay. Afterwards, an analysis is performed on holding- and lost sales costs, each with a 50% decrease, and increase.

Table 7.2.: Sensitivity analysis parameters.

Parameter	Experiment range	Explanation
c <sup>inv</sup>	[50%, 100%, 150%]	Unit cost for keeping a pallet in inventory.
$c^{ls}$	[50%, 100%, 150%]	Unit cost for lost sales.

Figure 7.11 shows the sensitivity performed on the base case of Section 7.2. For this analysis, only the Road Only, 100%, 80%, ..., 20%, and 1% cost-focus experiments have been performed. As expected, increasing the cost factors also increases the total costs. The same applies to reducing the cost factor parameters.

The red- and green lines seem to be deviating more than the orange- and blue lines, which means that the change in holding costs seems to have a larger impact on the total cost than the difference in lost sales cost. This follows from the fact that the total inventory costs are much larger than the total lost sales costs.

## 7.6. Conclusion

We conclude this chapter by summarizing the model validation, Pareto frontier, country analysis, learning heuristic, and sensitivity analysis.
#### 7. Results



Figure 7.11.: Pareto of Different delay distributions.

**Model validation** We compared the performance of the order optimizer module with a simple heuristic, using a myopic policy. The performance of both heuristics was quite similar, where the order optimizer tends to perform slightly better with a high emission focus, and the simple heuristics performs slightly better with a high cost focus. For this reason, we assume that the expected cost calculation of the order optimizer to not be significantly better than a simple heuristic.

**Pareto frontier** A 100% cost focus during normal delay settings results in a total cost of  $\pounds$ 12.2 million euro and a total emission of 4.8 million kg of CO<sub>2</sub>. Shifting the focus to reducing emissions gradually results in higher costs and lower emissions. The 99% emission focus experiment results in  $\pounds$ 13.7 million euro and 2.7 million kg of CO<sub>2</sub>, which is an 11.8% cost increase and a 42.7% emission reduction. Increasing the delay distribution to 200% or 300% results in overall more costs and emissions, due to taking less risk in transport, accepting higher emissions, and having more delayed freight.

The path execution costs make up the majority of the total cost, with approximately 80% to 85%. The holding costs are about 10% to 15% of the total cost, and the lost sales costs are < 5% of the total cost. Increasing the focus on emission results in higher path execution costs together with a slight increase in lost sales costs. The holding costs stay approximately the same.

Rail transportation is the primary choice for intermodal transport in the optimization model. When the emission focus is larger than 50%, also maritime shipping is chosen for some shipments but stays a small portion of the total intermodal routes. The majority (approximately 65%) of the emissions with a 50% emission focus or larger is caused by road transportation. A small portion of the 65% is used for unimodal transportation. The majority is polluted for driving from- and to ports and railway stations.

**Country analysis** Spain and Italy have the highest potential for emission reduction, due to the large volume of goods ordered from suppliers in these countries, and the large distance towards the warehouse of ADIL. Portugal is also a relevant country for emission reduction, due to the large distance to the warehouse. Its emissions may reduce

#### 7. Results

by close to 70% compared to the Road Only experiment. Due to the less volume, it has less potential for emission reduction than Spain and Italy. Countries like Belgium, Germany, and the Netherlands have little influence on the total emissions.

**Learning heuristic** The learning heuristic tends to perform relatively similarly to the simple heuristic and order optimizer module. The learning heuristic seems to be less sensitive to extreme results than the simple heuristic, though the difference is relatively small. In general, the learning heuristic performs just as well as the order optimizer and simple heuristic.

**Sensitivity analysis** Changing the holding cost parameter has a larger impact on the cost values, than changing the lost sales cost parameters. This is likely primarily due to the larger total inventory cost compared to the lost sales cost.

# 8. Conclusions and recommendations

In this chapter, we present the conclusions and recommendations based on this research to provide an answer to the research objective. First, the conclusions are presented in Section 8.1. The conclusions start with answering all sub-questions, after which the main conclusions follow. Section 8.2 shows the recommendations, resulting from the conclusions. Section 8.3 elaborates on the limitations of this research. Finally, Section 8.4 mentions a number of possible future research topics, that follow from this research.

## 8.1. Conclusions

The research started by defining the problem statement, objective, and research questions. The core problem is the unawareness of potential efficiency- and sustainability improvements in the transportation process of ADIL. Due to the high share of road transportation, ADIL wants to explore potential efficiency and sustainability improvements within their ordering process. This leads to the following objective:

How can ADIL improve their international freight transportation network considering different kinds of transportation modes within the transportation network?

**Context analysis** Inbound transportation is done by multiple logistics service providers for ADIL. For each part of Europe, a standard transportation method is defined in the system for standardization purposes. When a planner creates an order, the logistics service provider directly receives an order for the moment the products need to be shipped from the supplier to the warehouse. Orders include one or multiple transportation units, often trailers for European suppliers, that are loaded with pallets. To maximize efficiency, only full container loads are ordered.

While ADIL has suppliers all around the globe, most of its volume is done in Europe, primarily in Spain and Italy. Most of ADIL's products from European suppliers are ordered in trailers and are shipped by road transportation. The total distance travelled by road is a relatively small portion (<20%) of the total distance travelled, but does account for at least 50% of the total emissions. Other transportation methods, such as maritime, account for the majority of the total distance travelled but have less total emissions. That is because intermodal transportation modes have lower emissions per kilometer than road transportation. For this reason, to reduce the total emission, we want to reduce the distance travelled by road.

**Problem formulation** We formulate our problem by using an inventory model that incorporates all items of ADIL. Every week, orders are generated that consist of one or multiple containers. We may decide what items with what quantity we place in a

container. Afterwards, we decide how the containers are transported in a large European transportation network. We generate a fixed set of paths from the supplier to the warehouse, after which we choose one path that the container will travel. Our model includes two stochastic parameters, which are the weekly item demand and transportation delay.

**Solution approach** For each supplier, we generate a fixed set of paths upfront in the transportation network, using a *k*-shortest path algorithm, considering multiple objectives. Each path is calculated according to Dijkstra's algorithm, which finds the shortest path in a graph. We also use an inventory management system that creates replenishment orders for items, grouped in containers. Containers are filled using a heuristic algorithm that adds pallets based on the demand forecast. Eventually, we execute each generated container on one path of the supplier's set of paths.

We determine the expected costs of choosing a path for a container, by calculating the expected lost sales- and holding cost together with the path execution cost. Based on the weight criteria costs and emissions, a score is calculated for each path. The path with the highest score (i.e., lowest emission/cost) is chosen as the best path. We also train a learning heuristic on the path selection model, to evaluate whether the weighted scoring method or learning heuristic performs better.

**Experimental settings** The transportation network is based on the core network of the TEN-T project of the European Commission, which has defined the major transportation network in Europe. Cost figures are based on assumptions and emission figures are based on the GLEC framework. Intermodal routes are extracted from RouteScanner's schedules from the major cities in Europe.

**Results** A simple heuristic is evaluated with both the order optimizer and the learning heuristic to validate the model and evaluate the performance. The simple heuristic tends to perform close to or as well as the order optimizer and learning heuristic. A total emission reduction of about 45% is achievable, also resulting in a cost increase of approximately 12%. Based on a trade-off between costs and emissions, a Pareto optimal solution may be determined. Increased transportation delay results in slightly higher costs. The primary transportation mode for intermodal transport is by rail according to the optimization model. This is likely due to suppliers not being close to ports to ship by maritime and due to the experimental settings of the model.

### 8.1.1. Main conclusions

**Cost/emission tradeoff** ADIL can improve their international freight transportation, by increasing their intermodal transport to reduce overall emissions by up to approximately 45%, and subsequently accepting a cost increase of up to approximately 12%, compared to the 100% cost focus experiment.

**Primary intermodal transportation mode** The primary modality to transport items is rail transportation in Europe. Maritime shipping is the most sustainable transportation method, which occurs in the experimenting with a relatively high emission focus.

**Countries with large emission reduction potential** Suppliers in countries in Southern Europe are relatively attractive for using intermodal transport, due to the high volume of goods and the large distance to the warehouse of ADIL. Countries nearby the warehouse

like Belgium and Germany are less attractive for intermodal transport, due to their short distance to the warehouse.

**Heuristics versus learning strategy** The use of the learning heuristic for path selection for ADIL in the constraints of this research is less valuable, due to no- to little better performance compared to the simple heuristic and order optimizer. The simple heuristic sometimes performs nearly as well and sometimes better compared to the order optimizer or a learning heuristic.

**Preference for stockpiling** The holding cost factor for ADIL is relatively low, compared to the relatively high lost sales cost. The algorithm therefore always preferred to order earlier to mitigate risks and increase inventory. Further research should focus on the optimal use of warehouse capacity to reduce lost sales costs, instead of a cost trade-off between holding- and lost sales costs.

**System standardisation** Due to the standardised procedures in the systems of ADIL, intermodal transport is relatively easy to implement. The case of synchromodal transport using flexible services is more difficult, due to having the option to choose between different paths. Currently, ADIL's systems are built in such a way that each item has one transportation route. For this reason, if ADIL desires to use synchromodal transport, it should further investigate in what manner this can be implemented into its systems.

## 8.1.2. Contribution to literature and practice

This research combines different types of solution approaches from the literature. Below, the key topics are explained that contribute to literature and practice:

- **Container packing combined with inventory management** While the topic of inventory management together with transportation management has not been widely researched, this research proposes a solution approach for dealing with inventory management of items, together with transportation path selection, including the container filling procedure. The previous topics together with the container-filling procedure are one of the contributing elements of this research.
- **Pareto optimal solutions** Most transport selection problems in logistics focus on optimizing the movement of goods in a large logistics service provider network. This research focuses on the cargo owner's perspective and provides a cost/emission Pareto frontier with different cost- and emission focuses. Based on this optimization model, the company can determine what trade-off to make between costs and emissions.
- **Path selection learning heuristic** The learning heuristic for path selection of this research also provides a contribution to literature, since most papers focus on arc selection in a service logistics provider's network. This research proposes a learning heuristic for selecting the transportation path from a cargo owner's perspective.

# 8.2. Recommendations

Based on the conclusions, we propose the following recommendations to ADIL:

- **Cost/emission trade-off selection** This research provides an overview of the possible cost increase together with the potential emission decrease, with Pareto frontier solutions. If ADIL desires to reduce their emissions, ADIL can determine to what extent they want to increase costs in order for an emission reduction. We recommend exploring to what extent ADIL wants to reduce their emissions, to evaluate what cost increase might be applicable.
- Flexible services system implementation To increase the share of intermodal transport, ADIL needs to evaluate how flexible transportation services can be implemented into their systems, due to their current standardized procedure. Also, an evaluation of to what extent the current logistics service providers can provide intermodal services in Europe is required to be able to increase the share of intermodal transport.
- **Path selection** The order optimizer calculating expected costs in this research was able to slightly outperform a simple heuristic, only in specific cases. Also, the learning heuristic was not able to significantly outperform the simple heuristic and the order optimizer. For this reason, it is not necessary to develop a sophisticated procedure that determines the optimal transportation path for a specific container.
- Warehouse capacity This research tries to find the balance between lost sales and holding costs. Due to the large lost sales cost and low holding cost, the model often prioritises transporting the items as early as possible. A relevant topic to research might be to minimize the lost sales cost related to warehouse capacity. Instead of focusing on holding costs, we choose the transportation path based on the available warehouse capacity.

# 8.3. Research limitations

This research is performed on a broad topic and has a large set of parameters. For this reason, it makes the research sensitive for all design choices made. We list a set of limitations related to this research.

- **Inventory management heuristics** The inventory management system module uses two heuristics to determine the order quantity of each item, and how to distribute the items in one or more containers. The choice for the use of a single heuristic for the two subproblems limits the research related to packing the containers with different methods. Evaluating different container packing algorithms might lead to different results.
- **Path creation** This research reduces the problem formulation related to the transportation network by creating a fixed set of paths for each supplier. This resulted in a reduced decision space, which made it easier to make a decision. Consequently, this also limits the potential for the optimization algorithm to make the best decision.

• **Intermodal arcs and departure times** For the experimental settings, a selection of intermodal arcs have been made which the model may use. Increasing the number of intermodal arcs may increase the usage of intermodal transport. Also, the assumption of arcs departing once a week may influence the choice of intermodal transport.

# 8.4. Future research

This research was conducted for ADIL to explore the possibilities for intermodal transport to reduce total emissions, and to explore the use of sophisticated heuristics, such as machine learning, in choosing transportation paths. This research acts as a starting point for further research into transportation path selection, transportation and inventory management control, and the use of machine learning for transportation selection. Below, a summary is shown with possible future research topics that follow from this research.

- **Demand seasons** Retailers such as the subsidiaries of Ahold Delhaize use promotions to attract customers to their stores. These promotions cause high demand shocks. This research considers these promotions as noise and uses a single demand distribution for each item for the entire horizon. Considering, e.g., a standard- and high season with different demand distributions would be interesting to explore what transportation methods would be selected in what conditions.
- **Multiple Transportation unit types** Transportation has different types of transportation units, like containers, and trailers. Each type has different capacities, characteristics, and transportation prices. Training a model into choosing what transportation unit type is the best option for a supplier is also interesting. The same applies to different pallet types, and, e.g., if stackability applies to a certain item. In this research, we assumed a single pallet type and container type for simplicity. For this reason, considering multiple transportation unit types might be future research.
- **Different reorder points** In this research, reorder points were determined on a certain percentage of the demand distribution. A different approach would be to learn what reorder point is relevant for each transportation path.
- Warehouse capacity constraint The lost sales costs for Ahold Delhaize are relatively high and holding costs are relatively low. This leads to the model nearly always preferring to order as early as possible. Placing pallets in inventory at low costs is often more rewarding than higher lost sales. For this reason, an optimization model focusing on warehouse capacity constraints might be more relevant. Then the focus becomes to reduce the lost sales by making optimal use of the available warehouse capacity.
- Order horizon In this research, a fixed order horizon of three weeks was used to generate different scheduled paths that use intermodal arcs. Having a lower order horizon leads to better predictable demand, but fewer choices in scheduled paths. Experimenting with different order horizon values might lead to relevant results.

#### 8. Conclusions and recommendations

- **Intermodal paths** This research used a fixed set of intermodal paths, each having one fixed departure moment per week. More research about what intermodal paths are available for a small set of LSPs, including their departure moments, might lead to more realistic results.
- **Dynamic arc prices** In reality, the price of transport is based on multiple parameters, such as availability, capacity, and demand. This research assumed a fixed price for transport during the entire time horizon. Researching the behaviour of path selection with dynamic pricing might be an interesting future research topic.

# **Bibliography**

- Abdulkadir, T. S. (2018). Route selection and trade-offs evaluation of the intermodal freight transportation. *Journal of Engineering Science and Technology*, 13.
- ADIL. (2021). Adil at a glance.
- Ahold Delhaize. (2022a). *Ahold delhaize: Who we are*. https://www.aholddelhaize.com/ about/ (accessed: 30.05.2022)
- Ahold Delhaize. (2022b). *Annual report 2021*. https://www.aholddelhaize.com/en/ investors/annual-reports/2021/ (accessed: 30.05.2022)
- Ambra, T., Caris, A., & Macharis, C. (2019). Should i stay or should i go? assessing intermodal and synchromodal resilience from a decentralized perspective. *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*), 11(6).
- Axsäter, S. (2015). Inventory control (Vol. 225).
- Barros, L., Tanta, M., Martins, A., Afonso, J., & Pinto, J. (2020). Statcom evaluation in electrified railway using v/v and scott power transformers. *Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering*, 315 LNICST, 18–32.
- Batarlienė, N., & Šakalys, R. (2021). Mathematical model for cargo allocation problem in synchromodal transportation. *Symmetry*, 13(4).
- Burgholzer, W., Bauer, G., Posset, M., & Jammernegg, W. (2013). Analysing the impact of disruptions in intermodal transport networks: A micro simulation-based model. *Decision Support Systems*, 54(4), 1580–1586.
- Containerships. (2020). *Intermodal vs. multimodal: What is the difference?* https://www. containerships.eu/news/intermodal-vs-multimodal-what-is-the-difference (accessed: 13.09.2022)
- Delbart, T., Molenbruch, Y., Braekers, K., & Caris, A. (2021). Uncertainty in intermodal and synchromodal transport: Review and future research directions. *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*), 13(7).
- Dijkstra, E. (1959). A note on two problems in connexion with graphs. *Numerische Mathematik*, 1, 269–271.
- European Commission. (2020). *About ten-t*. https://ec.europa.eu/transport/infrastructure/ tentec/tentec-portal/site/en/abouttent.htm (accessed: 13.10.2022)
- Eurosender. (2020). Unimodal, multimodal and intermodal shipping explained. https:// www.eurosender.com/blog/en/unimodal-multimodal-intermodal/ (accessed: 13.09.2022)
- Eurostat. (2019). *Glossary:transport mode*. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php?title=Glossary:Transport\_mode (accessed: 13.09.2022)
- Eurostat. (2022). *Glossary:short sea shipping* (*sss*). https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php?title=Glossary:Short\_sea\_shipping\_(SSS) (accessed: 12.09.2022)

#### Bibliography

- Farahani, A., Genga, L., & Dijkman, R. (2021). Tackling uncertainty in online multimodal transportation planning using deep reinforcement learning. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, 13004 LNCS, 578–593.
- Ge, D. Optimal path selection of multimodal transport based on ant colony algorithm. In: 2083. (3). 2021.
- Ignaciuk, P. Discrete-time control of capacitated multi-channel distribution systems with batch replenishments. In: 2019, 2–6.
- Kokkinos, K., Nathanail, E., Gerogiannis, V., Moustakas, K., & Karayannis, V. (2022).
   Hydrogen storage station location selection in sustainable freight transportation via intuitionistic hesitant decision support system. *Energy*, 260.
- Koohathongsumrit, N., & Chankham, W. (2022). A hybrid approach of fuzzy risk assessment-based incenter of centroid and mcdm methods for multimodal transportation route selection. *Cogent Engineering*, *9*(1).
- Larsen, R., Sprokkereef, J., Atasoy, B., & Negenborn, R. Integrated mode choice and vehicle routing for container transport. In: *2021-September*. 2021, 3348–3353.
- Law, A. M. (2015). *Simulation modeling and analysis* (5th international).
- Lemmens, N., Gijsbrechts, J., & Boute, R. (2019). Synchromodality in the physical internet – dual sourcing and real-time switching between transport modes. *European Transport Research Review*, 11(1).
- Li, L., & Zhang, X. (2021). Review of research on freight carbon emission reduction based on modal shift. *Beijing Jiaotong Daxue Xuebao/Journal of Beijing Jiaotong University*, 45(1), 85–97.
- Macharis, C., Pekin, E., & Rietveld, P. (2011). Location analysis model for belgian intermodal terminals: Towards an integration of the modal choice variables. *Procedia* -*Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 20.
- Maity, G., Yu, V., & Roy, S. (2022). Optimum intervention in transportation networks using multimodal system under fuzzy stochastic environment. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2022.
- Marzano, V., Tinessa, F., Fiori, C., Tocchi, D., Papola, A., Aponte, D., Cascetta, E., & Simonelli, F. (2022). Impacts of truck platooning on the multimodal freight transport market: An exploratory assessment on a case study in italy. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, *163*, 100–125.
- Mehlhorn, K., & Sanders, P. (2008). *Algorithms and data structures: The basic toolbox*. Springer, Berlin.
- Pamucar, D., Deveci, M., Gokasar, I., Martínez, L., & Köppen, M. (2022). Prioritizing transport planning strategies for freight companies towards zero carbon emission using ordinal priority approach. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, 169.
- Pfoser, S., Kotzab, H., & Bäumler, I. (2022). Antecedents, mechanisms and effects of synchromodal freight transport: A conceptual framework from a systematic literature review. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 33(1), 190–213.
- Rivera, A., & Mes, M. (2016). Service and transfer selection for freights in a synchromodal network. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, 9855 LNCS, 227–242.
- Rivera, A., & Mes, M. (2017). Anticipatory freight selection in intermodal long-haul round-trips. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 105, 176–194.

#### Bibliography

- Rivera, A., & Mes, M. (2022). Anticipatory scheduling of synchromodal transport using approximate dynamic programming. *Annals of Operations Research*.
- RouteScanner. (2022). *About routescanner*. https://www.routescanner.com/about (accessed: 8.11.2022)
- Saldanha, J. (2022). Estimating the reorder point for a fill-rate target under a continuous review policy in the presence of non-standard lead-time demand distributions. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 164.
- Sawadogo, M., Anciaux, D., & Roy, D. (2012). Reducing intermodal transportation impacts on society and environment by path selection: A multiobjective shortest path approach [14th IFAC Symposium on Information Control Problems in Manufacturing]. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 45(6), 505–513.
- Smart Freight Centre. (2022). *What is the glec framework*. https://www.smartfreightcentre. org/en/how-to-implement-items/what-is-glec-framework/58/ (accessed: 12.09.2022)
- Stenius, O., Marklund, J., & Axsäter, S. (2018). Sustainable multi-echelon inventory control with shipment consolidation and volume dependent freight costs. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 267(3), 904–916.
- Tamannaei, M., Zarei, H., & Aminzadegan, S. (2021). A game-theoretic approach to the freight transportation pricing problem in the presence of intermodal service providers in a competitive market. *Networks and Spatial Economics*, 21(1), 123–173.
- Tamannaei, M., Zarei, H., & Rasti-Barzoki, M. (2021). A game theoretic approach to sustainable freight transportation: Competition between road and intermodal road-rail systems with government intervention. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 153, 272–295.
- Tao, Y., Chew, E. P., Lee, L. H., & Shi, Y. (2017). A column generation approach for the route planning problem in fourth party logistics. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 68(2), 165–181.
- Triantaphyllou, E. (2000). *Multi-criteria decision making methods: A comparative study* (Vol. 44).
- Weele, A. J. (2010). *Purchasing & supply chain management: Analysis, strategy, planning and practice*. Andover: Cengage Learning.
- Xiong, G., & Wang, Y. (2014). Best routes selection in multimodal networks using multiobjective genetic algorithm. *Journal of Combinatorial Optimization*, 28.
- Yin, C., Ke, Y., Chen, J., & Liu, M. (2021). Interrelations between sea hub ports and inland hinterlands: Perspectives of multimodal freight transport organization and low carbon emissions. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 214.
- Zhang, H., Li, Y., Zhang, Q., & Chen, D. (2021). Route selection of multimodal transport based on china railway transportation. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2021.
- Zhang, Y., Atasoy, B., & Negenborn, R. (2022). Preference-based multi-objective optimization for synchromodal transport using adaptive large neighborhood search. *Transportation Research Record*, 2676(3), 71–87.
- Zhang, Y., Guo, W., Negenborn, R., & Atasoy, B. (2022). Synchromodal transport planning with flexible services: Mathematical model and heuristic algorithm. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 140.

# A. List of all nodes and arcs

This appendix shows the data sets of all nodes and arcs used in the optimization model. Table A.1 shows the list of all nodes, and Table A.2 shows the list of all arcs.

ID	Туре	City	Country	Latitude	Longitude
0	transfer	Amsterdam	Netherlands	52.3667	4.8833
1	transfer	Rotterdam	Netherlands	51.9225	4.4792
2	transfer	Utrecht	Netherlands	52.0908	5.1222
3	transfer	Zeebrugge	Belgium	51.3166	3.2044
4	transfer	Antwerp	Belgium	51.2206	4.4003
5	transfer	Gent	Belgium	51.0536	3.7253
6	transfer	Brussels	Belgium	50.8333	4.3333
7	transfer	Liege	Belgium	50.6328	5.5722
8	transfer	Luxembourg	Luxembourg	49.6168	6.1246
9	transfer	Calais	France	50.9481	1.8564
10	transfer	Lille	France	50.6278	3.0583
11	transfer	Le Havre	France	49.4900	0.1000
12	transfer	Paris	France	48.8566	2.3522
13	transfer	Metz	France	49.1203	6.1778
14	transfer	Nantes/Saint-	France	47.2890	-2.2210
		Nazaire			
15	transfer	Tours	France	47.2436	0.6892
16	transfer	Dijon	France	47.3167	5.0167
17	transfer	Bordeaux	France	44.8400	-0.5800
18	transfer	Toulouse	France	43.6045	1.4440
19	transfer	Lyon	France	45.7600	4.8400
20	transfer	Montpellier	France	43.6119	3.8772
21	transfer	Perpignan	France	42.6986	2.8956
22	transfer	Marseille	France	43.2964	5.3700
23	transfer	Nice	France	43.7034	7.2663
24	transfer	Strasbourg	France	48.5833	7.7458
25	transfer	Kiel	Germany	54.3233	10.1394
26	transfer	Bremerhaven	Germany	53.5500	8.5833
27	transfer	Bremen	Germany	53.1153	8.7975
28	transfer	Hamburg	Germany	53.5500	10.0000
29	transfer	Rostock	Germany	54.0833	12.1333
30	transfer	Osnabrück	Germany	52.2816	8.0507
31	transfer	Hannover	Germany	52.3744	9.7386
32	transfer	Magdeburg	Germany	52.1278	11.6292
33	transfer	Berlin	Germany	52.5167	13.3833
34	transfer	Frankfurt/Oder	Germany	52.3504	14.5489

## A. List of all nodes and arcs

	ID	Туре	City	Country	Latitude	Longitude
_	35	transfer	Düsseldorf	Germany	51.2241	6.7644
	36	transfer	Cologne	Germany	50.9422	6.9578
	37	transfer	Frankfurt	Germany	50.1194	8.6675
	38	transfer	Dresden	Germany	51.0500	13.7400
	39	transfer	Mannheim	Germany	49.4878	8.4661
	40	transfer	Würzburg	Germany	49.7953	9.9389
	41	transfer	Nuremberg	Germany	49.4539	11.0775
	42	transfer	Stuttgart	Germany	48.7761	9.1775
	43	transfer	Regensburg	Germany	49.0167	12.0833
	44	transfer	Passau	Germany	48.5667	13.4667
	45	transfer	Munich	Germany	48.1372	11.5755
	46	transfer	Prague	Czechia	50.0649	14.4637
	47	transfer	Basel	Zwitserland	47.5541	7.5911
	48	warehouse	-	Netherlands	-	-
	49	transfer	A Coruna	Spain	43.3650	-8.4100
	50	transfer	Gijón	Spain	43.5333	-5.7000
	51	transfer	Bilbao	Spain	43.2569	-2.9236
	52	transfer	Vitoria	Spain	42.8469	-2.6716
	53	transfer	Valladolid	Spain	41.6529	-4.7284
	54	transfer	Zaragoza	Spain	41.6568	-0.8794
	55	transfer	Tarragona	Spain	41.1187	1.2453
	56	transfer	Barcelona	Spain	41.3879	2.1699
	57	transfer	Valencia	Spain	39.4702	-0.3768
	58	transfer	Madrid	Spain	40.4167	-3.7003
	59	transfer	Murcia	Spain	37.9835	-1.1299
	60	transfer	Cartagena	Spain	37.6057	-0.9913
	61	transfer	Antequer-	Spain	37.0194	-4.5629
	(		a/Bobadilla	<u> </u>	00	
	62	transfer	Cordoba	Spain	37.8847	-4.7791
	63	transfer	Seville	Spain	37.3826	-5.9963
	64	transfer	Hueiva	Spain	37.2500	-6.9500
	65	transfer	Algeciras	Spain	36.1275	-5.4539
	60 6-	transfer	Porto	Portugal	41.1502	-6.6103
	67 68	transfer	Aveiro	Portugal	40.6333	-0.0500
	60	transfer	Cipos	Portugal	30.7200	-9.1423
	- 09 	transfer	Silles	Poland	37.9574	-0.0013
	70	transier	iscie	1 Otatiu	53.4109	14.5323
	<b>17</b> 1	transfor	Cdynia /Cdansk	Poland	F 4 F168	18 - 110
	/1 72	transfer	Poznan	Poland	54.5100	16.0167
	/~ 72	transfer	Lódz	Poland	52.2400	10.9107
	/ 3 7 1	transfer	Warsaw	Poland	52 2222	21 0167
	/4 75	transfer	Wroclaw	Poland	51.1167	17.0222
	75	transfer	Ostrava	Poland	40.8408	18.2000
	77	transfer	Katowice	Poland	50.2667	10.0167
	77 78	transfer	Kraków	Poland	50.0680	10.0/25
	,0			- Starter	Jeree 2	-9·9 <b>+-</b> 9

ID	Type	City	Country	Latitude	Longitude
70	transfer	Brno	Czechia	40 1021	16 6122
79 80	transfer	Ostrava	Czechia	49.1921	18 2000
81	transfor	Innshruck	Austria	49.0400	11.2909
82	transfor	Wols /Linz	Austria	4/.202/	11.394/
82	transfor	Salzburg	Austria	40.1500	12.0444
84	transfer	Croz	Austria	47.0005	13.0444
04 8-	transfer	Glaz	Austria	47.0090	15.4302
05	transfer	Nagemurt	Austria	40.0237	14.3076
86	transfer	INOVARA	Italy	45.4480	8.6152
87	transfer	lurin	Italy	45.0667	7.7000
88	transfer	Milan	Italy	45.4636	9.1881
89	transfer	Genova	Italy	44.4111	8.9328
90	transfer	Verona	Italy	45.4333	10.9833
91	transfer	Udine	Italy	46.0667	13.2333
92	transfer	Venice	Italy	45.4346	12.3389
93	transfer	Bologna	Italy	44.5075	11.3514
94	transfer	Ravenna	Italy	44.4157	12.1966
95	transfer	Ancona	Italy	43.6171	13.5160
96	transfer	La Spezia	Italy	44.1000	9.8167
97	transfer	Livorno	Italy	43.5500	10.3167
98	transfer	Rome	Italy	41.8906	12.4943
99	transfer	Naples	Italy	40.8400	14.2525
100	transfer	Bari	Italy	41.1259	16.8721
101	transfer	Taranto	Italy	40.4692	17.2401
10 <b>2</b>	transfer	Gioia Tauro	Italy	38.4333	15.9000
103	transfer	Augusta	Italy	37.2492	15.2326
104	transfer	Palermo	Italv	38.1167	13.3667
105	transfer	Vienna	Austria	48.2041	16.3781

A. List of all nodes and arcs

Table A.1.: Set of all nodes.

Arc	From	То	Transport	Distance	Duration	Emission	Transfers
ID	ID	ID	method	( <b>km</b> )	(h)	$(\text{kg CO}_2)$	
			ID				
0	0	1	3	73	2	55	0
1	0	2	3	43	1	32	0
2	1	2	3	59	1	44	0
3	1	4	3	98	2	74	0
4	2	30	3	220	4	165	0
5	3	5	3	71	2	53	0
6		5	3	60	1	45	0
7	1	6	3	48	1	36	0
8	4	7	3	121	3	91	0
9	5	6	3	62	2	47	0
10	6	7	3	98	2	74	0
11	7	36	3	123	3	92	0
12	8	6	3	213	1	160	0
13	9	10	3	110	т 2	83	0
- J 1/	10	5	3	75	2	56	0
	10	6	3	109	2	82	0
16	10	12	3	220	-	165	0
17	11	12	3	107	4	148	0
-7	12	12	3	-97	6	240	0
10	12	15	3	258	5	-49 104	0
20	12	8	3	290 65	2	-94	0
20	12	20	2	107	2	49	0
21	15	59 14	2	197	4	204	0
22	15	14	3	428	5	204	0
-3 24	15	17	2	430	6	549 251	0
24 25	15	12	3	554 271	5	202	0
	10	18	2	2/1	5	184	0
20	1/	20	3	245	5	182	0
-/ 28	18	20	2	243	5	162	0
20	10	16	2	102	4	134	0
29	20	10	2	204	6	228	0
20 21	20	21	3	384 157	2	118	0
21 22	20	21	2	157	2	127	0
2 <del>2</del> 22	20	10	2	215	5	226	0
22 24	22	22	2	313 200	4	150	0
34 25	24	<u>-</u> - <u>-</u>	3	200 162	4	122	0
25 26	24	20	2	105	2	101	0
30	24	- 39 - 26	3	266	5	200	0
3/ 28	-29 25	20	3	200	5	200	
30 20	-23 26	20	3	99 62	2	/4	
39 40	20	27	3	126	2	47	
40	27	31 27	3	120	3	95	0
41	20	27	3	123	3	92 16 <del>0</del>	0
42	29	33	3	222	4	107	0
43	30	30	3	215	4	101	0

А.	List	of a	ll n	odes	and	arcs
----	------	------	------	------	-----	------

Arc	From	То	Transport	Distance	Duration	Emission	Transfers
ID	ID	ID	method	( <b>k</b> m)	(h)	$(\text{kg CO}_2)$	
			ID				
44	31	30	3	142	3	107	0
45	32	31	3	147	3	110	0
46	33	28	3	283	5	212	0
47	33	32	3	153	3	115	0
48	33	34	3	104	2	78	0
49	33	38	3	193	4	145	0
50	35	1	3	223	4	167	0
51	35	2	3	196	4	147	0
52	35	36	3	40	1	30	0
53	36	37	3	190	4	143	0
54	37	39	3	80	2	60	0
55	37	40	3	122	3	92	0
56	39	42	3	134	3	101	0
57	40	31	3	366	7	275	0
58	41	33	3	435	8	326	0
59	41	40	3	108	2	81	0
60	41	43	3	107	2	80	0
61	42	45	3	220	4	165	0
62	43	44	3	123	3	92	0
63	45	41	3	172	3	129	0
64	45	43	3	124	3	93	0
65	19	1	2	855	66	150	0
66	47	39	3	260	5	195	0
67	47	42	3	266	5	200	0
68	47	44	3	581	10	436	0
69	46	1	2	911	22	165	0
70	33	1	2	695	43	155	2
71	37	1	2	455	24	85	0
72	37	1	8	455	56	135	0
73	42	1	2	631	36	115	0
74	22	1	2	1165	120	205	0
75	11	1	1	621	43	70	0
76	12	1	2	443	120	80	0
77	47	1	2	679	18	130	0
78	16	47	3	258	5	194	0
79	24	47	3	140	3	105	0
80	2	48	3	51	1	38	0
81	4	48	3	128	3	96	0
82	7	48	3	177	3	133	0
83	35	48	3	151	3	113	0
84	30	48	3	221	4	166	0
85	17	52	3	335	6	251	0
86	51	52	3	65	2	49	0
87	52	53	3	238	4	179	0

Arc	From	То	Transport	Distance	Duration	Emission	Transfers
ID	ID	ID	method	( <b>km</b> )	(h)	$(\text{kg CO}_2)$	
			ID				
88	52	54	3	261	5	196	0
89	21	56	3	194	4	146	0
90	55	56	3	96	2	72	0
91	54	55	3	233	4	175	0
92	55	57	3	256	5	192	0
93	54	58	3	316	6	237	0
94	53	58	3	191	4	143	0
95	53	50	3	316	6	237	0
96	53	49	3	440	8	330	0
97	58	62	3	394	7	296	0
98	62	61	3	115	2	86	0
99	62	63	3	143	3	107	0
100	63	64	3	95	2	71	0
101	61	65	3	184	4	138	0
102	60	61	3	383	7	287	0
103	60	59	3	51	1	38	0
104	58	69	3	664	12	498	0
105	68	69	3	160	3	120	0
106	68	67	3	253	5	190	0
107	66	67	3	75	2	56	0
108	33	70	3	143	3	107	0
109	70	72	3	276	5	207	0
110	34	72	3	181	4	136	0
111	72	75	3	166	3	125	0
112	71	74	3	443	8	332	0
113	72	74	3	327	6	245	0
114	72	73	3	220	4	165	0
115	73	74	3	138	3	104	0
116	75	80	3	237	4	178	0
117	75	77	3	196	4	147	0
118	77	80	3	89	2	67	0
119	77	78	3	80	2	60	0
1 <b>2</b> 0	78	74	3	291	5	218	0
121	38	46	3	150	3	113	0
122	46	79	3	204	4	153	0
123	46	80	3	371	7	278	0
124	79	80	3	172	3	129	0
125	43	46	3	269	5	202	0
126	44	46	3	224	4	168	0
127	44	82	3	95	2	71	0
128	82	83	3	113	2	85	0
129	45	81	3	144	3	108	0
130	84	85	3	137	3	103	0
131	85	91	3	161	3	121	0

IDIDID(km)(kh)(kg CO <sub>2</sub> )132105843194444001331058231984414000134105823198441400013587193307310300136888639723300013786883521139001384786336677275001392389314431080014188893114431080000144909233200415000144939732004150001449093312131080014490933164331000014490933162316100145909331623100001469495316531610014790883316210010015699933263441710015799103326344171001549910233162100 <td< th=""><th>Arc</th><th>From</th><th>То</th><th>Transport</th><th>Distance</th><th>Duration</th><th>Emission</th><th>Transfers</th></td<>	Arc	From	То	Transport	Distance	Duration	Emission	Transfers
ID         ID         ID         ID         ID         ID           132         105         84         3         194         4         146         0           133         105         52         3         137         3         103         00           134         105         79         3         137         3         103         00           135         87         19         3         306         6         230         00           137         86         88         3         52         1         39         00           138         47         86         3         306         7         275         0           140         88         89         3         144         3         108         0           144         89         9         3         144         3         108         0           144         90         92         3         146         3         110         0           144         90         93         3         146         3         110         0           144         90         93         3         157	ID	ID	ID	method	( <b>km</b> )	(h)	$(\text{kg CO}_2)$	
13210584319441460133105823198414901341057931373103013587193306623001368786397273013786883521390138478633667275013923893194414601408889314431080141899631052790142969739927401439397320041500144909231213910145909331543116014790883157311801489394378259015098933380728501519910032635197015310010396272015499102344383320155103102319441460				ID				
1331058231984149013410579313731030135871933066230013687863972730137868835213901384786336672750139238931444310801418996310527901429697320041500143939732004150014490923121391014590933154311001469293378259014790883157311801489394378259015998933263519701529910032635197015499102322841710155103102313033220156575932204165015757583312262340158	132	105	84	3	194	4	146	0
134       105       79       3       137       3       103       0         135 $87$ 19       3       306       6       230       0         136 $87$ 86       3       97       2       73       0         137       86       88       3       52       1       39       0         138       47       86       3       366       7       275       0         139       23       89       3       194       4       146       0         140       88       89       3       105       2       79       0         141       89       96       3       105       2       79       0         144       90       92       3       121       3       91       0         144       90       92       3       146       3       110       0         144       90       92       3       166       3       125       0         144       94       95       3       166       3       125       0         150       98       93       3263<	133	105	82	3	198	4	149	0
135 $87$ 19330662300136 $87$ $86$ 3 $97$ 2 $73$ 0137 $86$ $88$ 3 $52$ 1 $39$ 0138 $47$ $86$ 3 $366$ 7 $275$ 0139 $23$ $89$ 3 $194$ 4 $146$ 0140 $88$ $89$ 3 $105$ 2 $79$ 0141 $89$ $96$ 3 $105$ 2 $79$ 0142 $96$ $97$ 3 $200$ 4 $150$ 0143 $93$ $97$ 3 $200$ 4 $150$ 0144 $90$ $92$ 3 $121$ 3 $91$ 0145 $90$ $93$ 3 $157$ 3 $118$ 0146 $92$ $93$ 3 $156$ 3 $125$ 0147 $90$ $88$ 3 $157$ 3 $118$ 0148 $93$ $94$ 3 $78$ 2 $59$ 0150 $98$ $93$ $380$ 7 $285$ 0151 $99$ $98$ 3 $228$ $4$ $171$ 0152 $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ 0154 $99$ $102$ $3$ $1443$ $8$ $332$ 0155 $103$ $102$ $3$ $1443$ $8$ $332$ 0156 $57$ $59$	134	105	79	3	137	3	103	0
136 $87$ $86$ $3$ $97$ $2$ $73$ $0$ 137 $86$ $88$ $3$ $52$ $1$ $39$ $0$ 139 $23$ $89$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $00$ 140 $88$ $89$ $3$ $1144$ $3$ $108$ $00$ 141 $89$ $96$ $3$ $105$ $2$ $79$ $00$ 142 $96$ $97$ $3$ $99$ $2$ $74$ $00$ 143 $93$ $97$ $3$ $200$ $4$ $150$ $00$ 144 $90$ $92$ $3$ $121$ $3$ $91$ $00$ $146$ $92$ $93$ $3$ $154$ $3$ $116$ $01$ $148$ $93$ $94$ $3$ $78$ $2$ $59$ $00$ $150$ $98$ $93$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $00$ $153$ $100$ $101$ <t< td=""><td>135</td><td>87</td><td>19</td><td>3</td><td>306</td><td>6</td><td>230</td><td>0</td></t<>	135	87	19	3	306	6	230	0
13786883521390138478633667275013923893194414601408889314431080141899631052790142969732004150014393973200415001449092311631100144909231543116014490923154311601449088315731180147908831573118014893943782590150989332635197015199983263519701529910032635197015310010139627201549910234438332015866533401730101586553314531090162919231303980 <trr< td=""><td>136</td><td>87</td><td>86</td><td>3</td><td>97</td><td>2</td><td>73</td><td>0</td></trr<>	136	87	86	3	97	2	73	0
138478633667275013923893194414601408889314431080141899631052790142969739927401439397320041500144909231213910145909331463116014692933154311601479088315731180148939437825901599893326351970151991003263519701529910032635197015499102314438332015510310231944146015657593322041650158665331623122016473773217416301651031043240418001647377321741630 </td <td>137</td> <td>86</td> <td>88</td> <td>3</td> <td>52</td> <td>1</td> <td>39</td> <td>0</td>	137	86	88	3	52	1	39	0
139238931944146014088893144310801418996310527901429697320041500143939732004150014490923121391014590933146311001469293315431160147908831573118014893943782590150989332635197015199983228417101529910032635197015310010139627201549910234438332015510310231944165015657593220416501586653316231220160545733126234016181903270520301638345314531090	138	47	86	3	366	7	275	0
1408889314431080141899631052790142969739927401439397320041500144909231213910145909331463110014692933154311601479088315731180148939437825901509893338072850151999832635197015299100326351970153100101396272015499102344383320155103102319441460156575933220416501586653340173010160545733126234016181903270520301629192313039801647377321741630 <t< td=""><td>139</td><td>23</td><td>89</td><td>3</td><td>194</td><td>4</td><td>146</td><td>0</td></t<>	139	23	89	3	194	4	146	0
1418996310527901429697399274014393973200415001449092312139101459093314631100146929331543116014790883157311801489394378259014994953166312501509893326351970151999832635197015299100326351970153100101396272015499102344383320155103102319441460156575932204165015866533401730101596163316231220160545733126234016383453145310901647377321741630 <t< td=""><td>140</td><td>88</td><td>89</td><td>3</td><td>144</td><td>3</td><td>108</td><td>0</td></t<>	140	88	89	3	144	3	108	0
142969739927401439397320041500144909231213910145909331463110014692933154311600147908831573118014893943782590149949531663125015098933263519701529910032635197015310010139627201549910234438332015510310231044146015657593220416501586653340173010159616331623122016054573312623401638345314531090164737732474163016510310432404180016651111747581700 </td <td>141</td> <td>89</td> <td>96</td> <td>3</td> <td>105</td> <td>2</td> <td>79</td> <td>0</td>	141	89	96	3	105	2	79	0
143939732004150014490923121391014590933146311001469293315431160147908831573118014893943782590149949531663125015098933263519701519998326351970152991003263519701531001013962720154991023443833201551031023144383320156575932204165015757583355626601586653316231220161819032705203016291923130398016383453145310901647377321741630165103104324041860 </td <td>142</td> <td>96</td> <td>97</td> <td>3</td> <td>99</td> <td>2</td> <td>74</td> <td>0</td>	142	96	97	3	99	2	74	0
144       90       92       3       121       3       91       0         145       90       93       3       146       3       110       0         146       92       93       3       154       3       116       0         147       90       88       3       157       3       118       0         148       93       94       3       78       2       59       0         149       94       95       3       166       3       125       0         150       98       93       3       263       5       197       0         152       99       100       3       263       5       197       0         153       100       101       3       96       2       72       0         154       99       102       3       443       8       332       0         155       103       102       3       194       4       146       0         155       57       59       3       220       4       165       0         156       57       59       3<	143	93	97	3	200	4	150	0
145 $90$ $93$ $3$ $146$ $3$ $110$ $0$ $146$ $92$ $93$ $3$ $154$ $3$ $116$ $0$ $147$ $90$ $88$ $3$ $157$ $3$ $118$ $0$ $148$ $93$ $94$ $3$ $78$ $2$ $59$ $0$ $149$ $94$ $95$ $3$ $166$ $3$ $125$ $0$ $150$ $98$ $93$ $3$ $380$ $7$ $285$ $0$ $151$ $99$ $98$ $3$ $228$ $4$ $171$ $0$ $152$ $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $0$ $153$ $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$	144	90	92	3	121	3	91	0
146 $92$ $93$ $3$ $154$ $3$ $116$ $0$ $147$ $90$ $88$ $3$ $157$ $3$ $118$ $0$ $148$ $93$ $94$ $3$ $78$ $2$ $59$ $0$ $149$ $94$ $95$ $3$ $166$ $3$ $125$ $0$ $150$ $98$ $93$ $3$ $380$ $7$ $285$ $0$ $151$ $99$ $98$ $3$ $228$ $4$ $171$ $0$ $152$ $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $0$ $153$ $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $164$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $91$ $2$ $3$ $3270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ <	145	90	93	3	146	3	110	0
147 $90$ $88$ $3$ $157$ $3$ $118$ $0$ $148$ $93$ $94$ $3$ $78$ $2$ $59$ $0$ $149$ $94$ $95$ $3$ $166$ $3$ $125$ $0$ $150$ $98$ $93$ $3$ $380$ $7$ $285$ $0$ $151$ $99$ $98$ $3$ $228$ $4$ $171$ $0$ $152$ $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $0$ $153$ $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$	146	92	93	3	154	3	116	0
14893943 $78$ 2590 $149$ 9495316631250 $150$ 9893338072850 $151$ 9998322841710 $152$ 99100326351970 $153$ 1001013962720 $154$ 99102344383320 $155$ 103102319441460 $156$ 5759322041650 $156$ 5759335562660 $158$ 6653340173010 $159$ 6163316231220 $161$ 8190327052030 $162$ 919231303980 $163$ 8345314531090 $164$ 7377321741630 $166$ 51111747581700 $164$ 7377321741630 $165$ 103104324041800 $166$ 51111747581700 $166$ 5112<	147	90	88	3	157	3	118	0
149 $94$ $95$ $3$ $166$ $3$ $125$ $0$ $150$ $98$ $93$ $3$ $380$ $7$ $285$ $0$ $151$ $99$ $98$ $3$ $228$ $4$ $171$ $0$ $152$ $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $0$ $153$ $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ <	148	93	94	3	78	2	59	0
150 $98$ $93$ $3$ $380$ $7$ $285$ $0$ $151$ $99$ $98$ $3$ $228$ $4$ $171$ $0$ $152$ $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $0$ $153$ $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$	149	94	95	3	166	3	125	0
151 $99$ $98$ $3$ $228$ $4$ $171$ $0$ $152$ $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $0$ $153$ $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$	150	98	93	3	380	7	285	0
152 $99$ $100$ $3$ $263$ $5$ $197$ $0$ $153$ $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $166$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $167$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ <td>151</td> <td>99</td> <td>98</td> <td>3</td> <td>228</td> <td>4</td> <td>171</td> <td>0</td>	151	99	98	3	228	4	171	0
153 $100$ $101$ $3$ $96$ $2$ $72$ $0$ $154$ $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ <td>152</td> <td>99</td> <td>100</td> <td>3</td> <td>263</td> <td>5</td> <td>197</td> <td>0</td>	152	99	100	3	263	5	197	0
154 $99$ $102$ $3$ $443$ $8$ $332$ $0$ $155$ $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $244$ $190$ $0$ </td <td>153</td> <td>100</td> <td>101</td> <td>3</td> <td>96</td> <td>2</td> <td>72</td> <td>0</td>	153	100	101	3	96	2	72	0
155 $103$ $102$ $3$ $194$ $4$ $146$ $0$ $156$ $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ </td <td>154</td> <td>99</td> <td>102</td> <td>3</td> <td>443</td> <td>8</td> <td>332</td> <td>0</td>	154	99	102	3	443	8	332	0
156 $57$ $59$ $3$ $220$ $4$ $165$ $0$ $157$ $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ <	155	103	102	3	194	4	146	0
157 $57$ $58$ $3$ $355$ $6$ $266$ $0$ $158$ $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ <	156	57	59	3	220	4	165	0
158 $66$ $53$ $3$ $401$ $7$ $301$ $0$ $159$ $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1216$ $19$ $210$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5142$ $192$ $525$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $986$ $67$ $335$ $0$	157	57	58	3	355	6	266	0
159 $61$ $63$ $3$ $162$ $3$ $122$ $0$ $160$ $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $166$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ $175$ $72$ $1$ $2$ $956$ $65$ $160$ $0$	158	66	53	3	401	7	301	0
160 $54$ $57$ $3$ $312$ $6$ $234$ $0$ $161$ $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ $175$ $72$ $1$ $2$ $956$ $65$ $160$ $0$	159	61	63	3	162	3	122	0
161 $81$ $90$ $3$ $270$ $5$ $203$ $0$ $162$ $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $166$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5142$ $192$ $525$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $21896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $986$ $65$ $160$ $0$	160	54	57	3	312	6	234	0
162 $91$ $92$ $3$ $130$ $3$ $98$ $0$ $163$ $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $955$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5142$ $192$ $525$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $956$ $67$ $335$ $0$	161	81	90	3	270	5	203	0
163 $83$ $45$ $3$ $145$ $3$ $109$ $0$ $164$ $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ $175$ $72$ $1$ $2$ $956$ $65$ $160$ $0$	162	91	92	3	130	3	98	0
164 $73$ $77$ $3$ $217$ $4$ $163$ $0$ $165$ $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $955$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1216$ $19$ $210$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ $175$ $72$ $1$ $2$ $956$ $65$ $160$ $0$	163	83	45	3	145	3	109	0
165 $103$ $104$ $3$ $240$ $4$ $180$ $0$ $166$ $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $955$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1216$ $19$ $210$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $244$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5142$ $192$ $525$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $986$ $67$ $335$ $0$	164	73	77	3	217	4	163	0
166 $51$ $1$ $1$ $1747$ $58$ $170$ $0$ $167$ $57$ $1$ $1$ $3782$ $144$ $385$ $0$ $168$ $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1216$ $19$ $210$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $244$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5142$ $192$ $525$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ $175$ $72$ $1$ $2$ $956$ $65$ $160$ $0$	165	103	104	3	240	4	180	0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	166	51	1	1	1747	58	170	0
168 $68$ $1$ $1$ $2403$ $95$ $240$ $0$ $169$ $56$ $1$ $2$ $1397$ $87$ $300$ $1$ $170$ $90$ $1$ $2$ $1216$ $19$ $210$ $0$ $171$ $86$ $1$ $2$ $1042$ $24$ $190$ $0$ $172$ $99$ $1$ $1$ $5142$ $192$ $525$ $0$ $173$ $102$ $1$ $1$ $5101$ $264$ $515$ $0$ $174$ $100$ $1$ $2$ $1896$ $67$ $335$ $0$ $175$ $72$ $1$ $2$ $956$ $65$ $160$ $0$	167	57	1	1	3782	144	385	0
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	168	68	1	1	2403	95	<b>2</b> 40	0
	169	56	1	2	1397	87	300	1
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	170	90	1	2	1216	19	210	0
17299115142192525017310211510126451501741001218966733501757212956651600	171	86	1	2	1042	24	190	о
173     102     1     1     5101     264     515     0       174     100     1     2     1896     67     335     0       175     72     1     2     956     65     160     0	172	99	1	1	5142	192	525	0
174     100     1     2     1896     67     335     0       175     72     1     2     956     65     160     0	173	102	1	1	5101	264	515	0
175 72 1 2 956 65 160 0	174	100	1	2	1896	67	335	о
	175	72	1	2	956	65	160	0

## A. List of all nodes and arcs

Arc ID	From ID	To ID	Transport method ID	Distance (km)	Duration (h)	Emission (kg CO <sub>2</sub> )	Transfers
176	71	1	1	1964	120	260	1
177	71	1	2	1277	71	250	1
178	77	1	2	1203	31	225	0
179	80	1	2	1250	64	200	0
180	105	1	2	1162	64	205	0
181	82	1	2	999	44	175	0

Table A.2.: Set of all arcs.

# B. K-optimal path specification

In the problem formulation, we create a fixed set of paths for every supplier. Based on the transportation network, the fixed set of paths is determined for each supplier. In the experiments, we choose a k = 3, which means that for every objective: time, cost, emission, top 3 paths are generated, and the union is taken of this set. This means that for k = 3,  $3^2 = 9$  paths are generated at maximum.

In the experiments, we have 177 suppliers, which results in 177 sets of paths. Figure B.1 shows the count of the number of paths per supplier. E.g., about 100 suppliers have a set of 4 fixed paths to choose from. This means that of the maximum 9 generated paths, the union equals 4 paths, which are the most important paths.



Count of the size of the path-set.

Figure B.1.: Count of the set of paths size.

If we investigate a single supplier with different experiments in Figure B.2, we see that a supplier in most experiments often prefers a single path, except during the full cost focus. For this reason, we conclude that k = 3 is sufficient for all suppliers to create a sufficiently diverse set of paths.

#### B. K-optimal path specification



Figure B.2.: Count of different paths for a specific supplier during several experiments.

# C. Warm-up period and replications analysis

#### Warm-up period

The inventory management system starts as an empty system with no inventory. Therefore, the system requires at least a warm-up period of 12 weeks, which is the sum of the maximum production lead time, 9 weeks, and the planning horizon, 3 weeks. This means that the demand starts in week 13. This way, the system has sufficient time to determine the first set of orders to fill the system.

Figure C.1 shows the number of orders placed each week. In the first week, all orders are placed such that the safety stock is satisfied for each supplier. the demand start is week 13, after which the number of orders starts to stabilize. Also, Figure C.2 shows that the costs stabilize after 12 weeks. We include an extra margin of 8 weeks to be sure the system is stable, which results in a total warm-up period of 20 weeks.



Figure C.1.: Number of orders placed in a specific week, where the demand starts in week 13.

#### Replications

To gain an estimate of the number of replications, the sequential procedure of Law (2015) is used. We apply a maximum error of  $\gamma = 0.1$ , which leads to a corrected target value  $\gamma' = \frac{\gamma}{1+\gamma} = 0.0909$ . When the relative error becomes lower than the corrected target value  $\gamma'$ , we have sufficient replications.

We use two KPIs to evaluate the number of replications, which are the total cost and total emission per experiment. We perform six 100% cost focus experiments and assume the

#### C. Warm-up period and replications analysis





relative error of the results is approximately the same across other experiments. Table C.1 shows the results for the number of replications.

Exp	КРІ	Running	Running var	Tvalue	CIHW <sup>1</sup>	delta
		avg				
Cost KPI						
1	13,258,963	-	-	-	-	-
2	12,344,799	12,801,881	417,847,991,723	6.31	2,885,902	0.2254
3	12,087,558	12,563,773	379,010,061,986	2.92	1,037,876	0.0826
4	13,886,487	12,894,452	690,066,337,062	2.35	977,472	0.0758
5	12,059,787	12,727,519	656,882,920,297	2.13	772,707	0.0607
6	12,275,412	12,652,168	559,573,159,903	2.02	615,373	0.0486
Emission KPI						
1	5,312,563	-	-	-	-	-
2	5,148,344	5,230,454	13,483,939,981	6.31	518,419	0.0991
3	4,738,302	5,066,403	87,479,669,641	2.92	498,625	0.0984
4	5,218,754	5,104,491	64,122,486,561	2.35	297,964	0.0584
5	4,550,937	4,993,780	109,376,215,749	2.13	315,306	0.0631
6	4,557,146	4,921,008	119,275,847,591	2.02	284,110	0.0577

Table C.1.: KPI evaluation for the number of replications.

Table C.1 shows that for the cost KPI, at least 3 replications are required, and for the emission KPI, 4 replications are required. For that reason, all experiments will be run with 4 replications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Confidence Interval Half Width.